
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 1 June 2021 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Council Chamber, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Gemma Duckworth (0116 3052583) 

Email: gemma.duckworth@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. M. Frisby CC 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr.  L. Hadji-Nikolaou CC 

Mr. R. Hills CC 
Mrs. C. Lewis 

 

Mr. N. Lockyer 
Ms. Betty Newton CC 
Mr. C. A. Smith CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Appointment of Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

2.  
  

Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2021.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

4.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

7.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

8.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

9.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

10.  
  

Wider Impact of Covid-19.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 13 - 54) 

11.  
  

Children and Family Services Department.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 55 - 72) 

12.  
  

Annual Report of the Virtual School Head.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 73 - 86) 

13.  
  

Quarter 4 2020/21 Performance Report.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 87 - 96) 

14.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 7 
September 2021 at 2.00pm. 
 
 

 

15.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 9 March 2021.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC (in the Chair) 
 

Dr. P. Bremner CC 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
Mrs. C. Lewis 
Mr. P. C. Osborne CC 
 

Mr T. Parton CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

In Attendance. 
 
Mrs. D. Taylor CC – Lead Member for Children and Families 
Mrs. B. Seaton CC – Cabinet Support Member 
 

45. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2021 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

46. Question Time.  
 
The following question, received under Standing Order 34, was put to the Chairman of 
the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 
(a) Mrs Sue Whiting asked the following question of the Chairman of the 

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 
Could the Chair please say how many of the 327 children without a Secondary 
Placement according to the press release of 1/3/2021 have Special 
Educational/Health/Social needs? 
 
Mrs H Fryer CC replied as follows: 
 
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to ensure that every child that requires a school 
place has access to one; this is referred to as the sufficiency duty. In ensuring that almost 
nine out of ten pupils have secured their first choice of school, and recognising that there 
are more seeking a place this year than at any time in the past, the County Council is 
extremely pleased to have achieved this outcome. Nevertheless, the 327 children who 
have yet to secure a secondary school place are important, and assurance is given to 
members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the department will be providing 
support to these families to ensure that a suitable school place can be secured at the 
earliest opportunity. 
 
It should be noted that the national Admissions Code requires that children having 
defined special educational needs are dealt with separately to the secondary transfer 
process and in accordance with the requirements of the SEND Code of Practice. Hence, 

5 Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

2 

further assurance can be provided that no child having an Education Health and Care 
Plan is included amongst the 327 yet to secure a school place through the secondary 
transfer process. 
 

47. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

48. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

49. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

50. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

51. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

52. Review of the Implementation of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 2019-22.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update of how the Corporate Parenting Strategy 2019-22 had been 
implemented since its launch and the impact it had achieved thus far.  A copy of the 
report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i)  Currently, there were 694 children in care in Leicestershire and 194 care 
leavers.  In response to the number of care leavers who were employed, in 
education or in training, it was noted that this figure was improving, in spite of 
the Covid-19 pandemic.  Work had taken place with district and borough 
councils around apprenticeships and more online training had been made 
available for young people.  The number of care leavers living in unsuitable 
accommodation remained low.  The department was in regular contact with its 
care leavers to ensure that they were receiving the best possible outcomes. 

 
ii)  It was reported that a meeting had recently taken place with the Comms team 

to finalise launching the children’s version of the Corporate Parenting Strategy.  
This was in the form of a short video and it was the intention that this would be 
launched in the near future.  This would help to show young people how they 
would be informed when coming into care. 

6



 
 

 

3 

 
iii)  It was noted that every local authority had a statutory duty to have a Corporate 

Parenting Strategy in place and these would usually cover a three year period.  
The latest version, launched in 2019, had replaced the previous strategy and 
had been updated to reflect the current challenges faced by young people in 
care.  The format agreed for the current strategy had been based on the 
principles of being ambitious and doing everything possible for children in care 
and care leavers. 

 
iv)  A member highlighted the issue that some children in care and care leavers 

were not meeting the threshold for CAMHS or mental health services.  In 
response, the Director stated that it was essential to provide preventative 
services for children in the early stage of emotional wellbeing as well as 
CAMHS reviewing services to those with more acute mental health needs, and 
this was welcomed.  The service was now dealing with and supporting young 
people with more complex mental health issues and was mindful that emotional 
wellbeing had been impacted by Covid-19.  Some of this was already being 
seen but other services were being prepared to deal with increased pressures 
and demands. 

 
v)  The Committee acknowledged the importance of recognising the role of 

elected members as corporate parents and it was suggested that this should 
be included in the induction package for new elected members after the County 
Council elections in May.  It was felt that it would be particularly helpful to 
distinguish between the responsibilities held by the County Council as a whole, 
the Lead Member for Children and Families, Member Champions and other 
elected members.  This would ensure that everyone was aware of their 
individual roles and could properly hold each other to account.  The Director of 
Children and Family Services stressed that this was built into the training 
programme for new elected members but this would be expanded to include 
the suggestions made.   

 
vi)  The change of branding for the Youth Justice team was welcomed by the 

Committee and it was stated that this was as a result of local authorities aiming 
to promote young people as children first. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

53. Children's Innovation Partnership.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update on the progress of the Children’s Innovation Partnership.  A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee was informed that four properties had initially been identified and 
although this had now been reduced to three, the ambition was to ultimately have four.  
This property was for under 16 year olds and the identified property had a covenant 
which the local authority had been unable to resolve in a suitable time or at a suitable 
cost.  Work was currently underway to identify an alternative property.  The other 
properties included one in Hinckley for over 16s, a Family Assessment Centre (this was a 
residential building already owned by the County Council which would be converted into 

7



 
 

 

4 

three flats) and a new build in Coalville which would comprise two buildings, one being an 
assessment residential centre and one to incorporate the ART Team.  In terms of 
timescale, it was the intention to have the buildings for under 16s and over 16s ready for 
occupation by the end of this year.  The two other builds would take approximately 18 
months.   
 
With regard to financial savings, cumulatively this was expected to be between £800,000 
- £1m each year.  This was calculated on both residential costs (which were in house) 
and on staff savings (by not having to travel out of the county to visit children).  The pay 
back period for each building was different; for the first two it was expected to be three 
years and the other two were between two and five years. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i)  A member raised a query around how it was decided that a potential property 
was suitable and whether there was a check list to go through, such as 
whether there was enough parking on site, enough separation between the 
building and neighbouring properties, if the internal layout was suitable and 
whether the bedrooms were big enough and consistent in size.  In response, 
the Director of Children and Family Services stated that a team of experts 
made the decisions, including officers from Barnardo’s, operational staff from 
the County Council and Property Services.  When a property was being 
considered, the County Council was open to hearing any concerns of local 
residents and ensured that public consultation took place.  For parking, for 
example at Highfield, it had been agreed to build into the plan how the car 
parking spaces would be used and how they would be managed. 

 
ii)  With regard to the suitability of an internal layout of a building, it was reported 

that architects helped to develop this by using a scope of what would be 
required in individual rooms.  A scope would also be provided for any 
communal areas and architects would ensure that there was sufficient space 
for everything required.  This would also include space to train parents, for 
example helping them to cook a meal.  Assurance was given that care had 
been taken with the specification for each individual building.  Another issue 
was how the homes would be decorated; it was known what furniture was 
needed but there could be other factors such as choosing appropriate games if 
it was a younger person’s home, pictures and garden equipment.  Contact had 
been made with the Corporate Parenting team and young people who had an 
interest in design would be identified to work as part of a team to inform the 
decoration of the buildings. 

 
iii)  It was acknowledged that the County Council had previously owned a number 

of large homes that had been used as residential children’s homes.  
Consideration had been given over the past two years to how to develop 
residential care for young people and the ambition had been to have smaller 
properties which provided a family environment. 

 
iv)  In response to a query around the advanced life skills programme, it was 

stated that the six schools involved had been clustered together.  During the 
Covid-19 pandemic, it had been necessary to stop the programme on a 
number of occasions and the decision had had to be taken to stop the project 
entirely and furlough the staff involved.  Discussions were currently taking 
place with the Department for Education on how the programme could be 

8



 
 

 

5 

taken forward and further details would be provided at the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
The Lead Member for Children and Families gave assurance that the County Council 
was taking an active role in consulting with local residents where it was felt a property 
may be developed and stated that she would be happy to meet with any elected 
members who had a property in their division.  The Lead Member also confirmed that 
these would be very controlled properties and any developments would be very positive. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
  

54. Youth Justice - Overview.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
gave an overview of the Youth Justice team, performance against national and local 
indicators and details of a case study to illustrate the work that the team undertook with 
children.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i)  Four young people were currently remanded into custody and this could be at 
various places around the country.  The County Council also placed young 
people in secure accommodation, but this was more for their welfare. 

 
ii)  It was noted that the service was planning a deep dive audit of 20 children 

across two districts in order to consider the education history of those children 
and to identify any key themes or trends that could be shared.  This had been 
due to take place in January but had been delayed as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  It was hoped that the findings from the audit would now be 
presented to the Youth Justice Management Board in June after which any 
learning would be disseminated.  This information would also be presented to a 
future meeting of the Children’s Social Care Panel. 

 
iii)  A member raised concern that there had been a spike of children who had not 

been known to any services who had committed serious offences and had 
received custodial sentences.  It was known that these were primarily 17/18 
year olds and although any themes had not been tracked, it was known that 
these young people had had no previous involvement with any services.  
Reassurance was also given that these young people had not been criminally 
exploited. 

 
RESOLVED:  

 
a) That the report be noted; 

 
b) That the findings from the deep dive audit of 20 children be presented to a future 

meeting of the Children’s Social Care Panel. 
  

55. Quarter 3 2020/21 Performance Report.  
 

9



 
 

 

6 

The Committee considered a report of the Chief Executive and Director of Children and 
Family Services  which presented an update of the Children and Family Services 
Department’s performance for the period October to December 2020 (Quarter 3).  A copy 
of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

i)  In response to a query around the charts provided with the report, it was stated 
that following the receipt of end of year performance data and comparative cost 
information, work had been carried out to compare Leicestershire’s overall 
performance position with other local authority areas.  The county comparator 
group included 32 two-tier and unitary authorities.  The latest available 
performance indicator data had been used and for most metrics, this was the 
end of year 2019/20 data.  The analysis used 247 outcome/performance 
indicators from nationally published sources.  A range of views were available 
including themes, indicators and quartiles.  In terms of children’s social care, 
Leicestershire had low spending and high performance.  For SEND, 
expenditure was higher, but performance was still good. 

 
ii)  There had been an increase in children being electively home educated.  This 

was being closely monitored to ensure that the service was able to manage the 
increase within existing resources.  A member commented that elective home 
education could be a positive and proactive step for many families and 
children, although it could sometimes be seen as pejorative.  The Director 
agreed that this could be the case, but when the data had been considered, 
much of the increase had been in those children who had previously struggled 
in school and the parents had realised that home education was working better 
for the child.  Assurance was given that the local authority was doing what it 
could to support families by ensuring that there were resources within the team 
to monitor education and any potential safeguarding issues.  Work would also 
take place to better understand the cohort so that support could be prioritised 
to the right families.   

 
iii)  It was noted that the percentage of children having a dental check was low.  

This primarily related to children in care and the figure was low as a result of 
being unable to visit the dentist due to Covid-19.  The service had worked hard 
to promote dental hygiene with young people and assurance was given that 
young people would be encouraged to attend a dental check when this was 
possible. 

 
iv)  In relation to young people who were NEET, a query was raised around 

whether the Leicestershire figures were in line with statistical neighbour 
averages and whether a proportion could be attributed to Covid-19.  In 
response, the Director reported that some training providers had been unable 
to remain open over the period but it was anticipated that the numbers would 
start to increase in the near future as providers were able to reopen.  It would 
be necessary to consider the cohort in more detail, but assurance was given 
that in terms of care leavers, things were moving in the right direction.  Further 
work would be required with those in the youth justice system as these were 
currently over represented in the NEET cohort. 

 
v)  It was asked whether a graph could be produced to show any link between 

deprivation and revenue.  Fair funding dashboards had been produced 

10



 
 

 

7 

previously and showed the comparison between core spending power to 
deprivation.  The 2017/18 version was currently available on the County 
Council’s website as part of a consultation/campaign that had been carried out 
at that time.  Further information would be provided to the Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

56. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 1 June 2021 at 
2.00pm. 
 
 

1.30 – 3.02pm CHAIRMAN 
09 March 2021 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 1 JUNE 2021 

 
WIDER IMPACT OF COVID 19  

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 
 
Purpose of report  
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the wider impact of 
Covid-19 on children and young people in Leicestershire. 

 
 
Background 
 

2. The Coronavirus pandemic has posed unprecedented pressures and 
challenges across society both nationally and locally and it is known that this 
specifically presents a higher level of risk for some children. Children and 
Family Services have recognised it is especially important that children and 
young people across Leicestershire continue to receive the services and 
support that they need and are effectively safeguarded during this pandemic. 
The service has adapted and changed the way it has delivered services to 
reflect changing circumstances, guidance and restrictions and has dealt with 
the additional pressures presented by local lockdowns affecting Leicester and 
some areas of Leicestershire since July 2020.  

 
Consultation 

 
3. A recent report from the Association for Young People’s Health (AYPH) 

suggests that children and young people have been less affected than other 
age groups by the Coronavirus infection itself, but have been 
disproportionately impacted by the social, educational and economic impacts 
of the pandemic. They identify there is evidence that many of the known risk 
factors for poorer outcomes for children and young people have been 
increased by the pandemic and subsequent lockdowns, including, for example, 
financial hardship and academic pressures. In particular, young people already 
facing challenges in their lives (such as those living in poverty, living with a 
disability or in challenging family situations) seem likely to have been hardest 
hit. The report highlights particular concern about the possible ‘slow burn’ 
impacts of educational and employment constraints, and the role the pandemic 
is playing in widening health inequalities.  
 

13 Agenda Item 10



 
 

4. During May 2020, Barnardo’s commissioned a number of surveys with children 
and young people (age 8-25) to understand how Coronavirus and the 
lockdown was affecting them personally. At least a third of the children and 
young people surveyed said they had experienced an increase of mental 
health and wellbeing issues including stress, loneliness and worry and nearly 
three-quarters said they missed going into school or college which is an 
important factor in supporting children’s mental health and wellbeing. The 
findings highlight the increase in mental health issues among children and 
young people as a result of lockdown. The findings suggest Covid-19 and the 
measures to contain it have had a disproportionate impact on children and 
young people’s mental health and wellbeing, especially those most vulnerable 
and marginalised in society.  

 
5. The Leicestershire County Council Policy Team, with the support of a cross-

council working group, has recently undertaken the Conversations about Covid 
project aimed at understanding the full impact of the pandemic on local people. 
The project has spoken with the Children and Family Service Children in Care 
Council and a youth volunteering group associated with Voluntary Action 
Leicestershire, as well as parent-carers of young people with autism. These 
conversations revealed a wide range of different experiences across the 
county. Amongst young people in care, there was a recognition of how much 
more “chilled” life was during the pandemic and how the pandemic had created 
time for activities outside of school. However, there was a widespread desire 
for the structure and social element of face-to-face teaching and hobbies, as 
well as a recognition of the “toxic” influence of social media which has 
adversely affected many of their friendships. Support networks also came up in 
the conversation with youth volunteers, where there was a large variety of 
support received across the group, and the group observed that the pandemic 
had worsened some individuals’ mental health and improved that of others. 
Many members of the group found themselves with more spare time and used 
this to start learning something new. The parent-carers spoken to reported 
regression amongst many of their young people in terms of their mental and 
physical health. This was attributed to the lack of socialising, exercise and the 
suspension of physical therapy support. Parent-carers also referenced a 
decline in the young people’s education levels as many had been unable to 
receive online SEND teaching because of their access needs. Daily walks 
outside were reported by most as the primary source of calm and respite for 
both children and parent-carers.  

 
6. The Children and Families Service actively seeks feedback from children, 

young people and families across Leicestershire on an on-going basis as part 
of direct work undertaken with families, through specific engagement activity 
and through forums including the Children’s Youth Council for Leicestershire 
(CYCLe), Children in Care Council and the SEND Parent Carer Forum. With 
the permission of Barnardo’s, their national consultation on the impact of 
Covid-19 was adapted and used in June 2020 by Leicester City and 
Leicestershire and Rutland’s Safeguarding Children Partnerships to enable 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to obtain timely localised data. A total of 
147 young people from across Leicestershire completed the online survey and 
the following key themes were identified: 

14

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/leisure-and-community/history-and-heritage/conversations-about-covid


 
 

 The majority of young people evidently disliked the impact of lockdown upon 
their day-today lives and requirement to stay indoors at home 

 Young people confirmed they had missed going to school / college and that 
completing academic study had become more difficult.  Additional anxiety was 
also reported, regarding young people knowing how much study to complete.   

 Inter-linked with not attending school / college, was young people reporting 
increased difficulty regarding talking with friends and not being able to 
maintain peer relationships 

 Baseline data also confirmed young people had experienced difficulty in 
finding things to do and positively occupy their time 

 Young people clearly stated that Covid-19 and the impact of lockdown had 
resulted in the majority experiencing increased anxiety, worry and feelings of 
sadness.  A significant number also reported increased difficulty sleeping 

 Young people identified feeling lonely, with some also reporting increased 
stress and instances of anger 

 Young people identified friends and family as their greatest source of support 
during the period of lockdown. 

 
7. As a result of the survey the Partnerships have continued to highlight young 

people’s mental health as a key part of their business plan and commissioned 
an audit of CAMHS waiting lists. 
 

Impacts of Covid-19 on Children and Young People in Leicestershire 
 
Early Years  
 

8. On 23 March 2020, childcare providers were asked to close as part of the first 
national lockdown and only remain open for children of key workers and 
vulnerable children. In September 2020, most providers reopened and from 4 
January 2021, when the third national lockdown restrictions were announced, 
early years provision was required to remain open to allow all children to 
attend. The Early Years Inclusion and Childcare Service undertook surveys 
with early years providers in November 2020 and February 2021 to help 
understand the local impact of Covid-19 and the associated national 
lockdowns on children’s learning and development and the take up of the free 
early education entitlement (FEEE). 

 
9. Headcount data shows there has been an impact on the take up of the 

universal 3 and 4 year FEEE and targeted 2 year FEEE as a result of the 
pandemic. For example, during the Autumn term of 2020, parental confidence 
to send their child to an early years provision was beginning to rise, reflected in 
December 2020 take up figures showing 10,006 children attending early years 
provision. However, since 5 January 2021 and the new national lockdown, this 
number has dropped by 20% due to parents choosing not to send their child 
back into a setting. This may be in part due to older siblings being at home 
during the lockdown or parents wanting to reduce the risk of infection. 
Providers have also shared concerns that fewer new parents started their child 
at early years provision in the spring term 2021 and have chosen to defer their 
child’s start date. National restrictions have made pre-visits and settling-in 
more difficult to accommodate, but providers have identified alternative ways 

15



 
 

to facilitate this including remaining open in the evening or at weekends to 
show parents around the setting, creating virtual tours of their provision, and 
using videos and WhatsApp messages to begin building relationships. 

 
10. Almost all providers said that the first national lockdown had impacted on 

children’s learning and development and were most concerned about the 
effects on children’s personal, social and emotional development. Providers 
felt that many children missed out on the wider opportunities of attending stay 
and play sessions, parent and toddler groups and visits in the community 
during this lockdown and reported seeing a change in children’s behaviour as 
a consequence. When asked to identify any areas of learning where they 
thought they had seen an improvement in children’s skills during this period, 
providers said that parents who were able to spend more time talking to and 
reading with their children had had a positive impact on children’s 
communication and language skills. Despite some children continuing to 
develop well, it was believed that not attending their usual early years setting 
has had a detrimental impact on most children’s learning and development.  

 
11. Many providers reported maintaining contact with children and families not 

accessing the setting due to self-isolation or parental choice during the most 
recent lockdown, including regular contact via telephone, Facebook, 
WhatsApp and Tapestry, virtual story times and sharing of activity ideas and 
packs. In January 2021 a list of vulnerable children was shared with providers, 
so they were aware of those children who attended their provision known to 
Children’s Social Care and Early Help. This enabled providers to support 
families who may have chosen to stay at home to continue to send their child 
to the provision or maintain effective contact with them during the third national 
lockdown. As providers have remained open, more vulnerable children have 
remained at the setting and fewer providers have closed so better contact has 
been maintained during this period.  

 
12. That not all parents chose for their child to attend their provision during the 

lockdown is particularly true of younger children with SEND. For those children 
who have remained at home and are known to the Early Years Inclusion and 
Childcare Service, weekly virtual calls and support have been made to families 
and advice given. Early Years SEND Advisors have used Microsoft Teams to 
complete video observations of children. The service has continued to support 
the sector with duty desk calls, three virtual appointment meetings with 
professionals, Area SENCO advice and Early Years SEND advisor support. 
Despite fewer children attending early years provision, support from these 
services has remained high due to providers requesting help to support 
children’s emotional behaviour and child development. 

 
13. Providers feel better supported with children who have additional needs and 

continue to use the graduated approach when identifying areas of concern with 
a child. One provider said that they have regular phone calls with their Area 
SENCO who offers advice when needed. They have also made calls to other 
providers about children who have moved to their setting to gather relevant 
information (with parents’ permission). Referrals have been done in the usual 
way and support has been allocated. Providers have welcomed support from 

16



 
 

their Area SENCO and Early Years SEND Advisor throughout lockdown as 
someone to talk to, to share their concerns with and to seek advice from. 

 
Safeguarding 
 

14. During the pandemic, work has continued within the Safeguarding Partnership 
to develop information and guidance for practitioners to respond to self-harm 
and suicide.  This piece of work emerged from learning linked to previous case 
reviews and aims to give confidence to staff to have early conversations and 
provide support to young people who are seen to self-harm or to discuss 
suicide.  The document has been a joint piece of work across LLR, with 
involvement of Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and 
wider agencies working with children, including school representation. The 
document is being finalised with plans for sign off in July 2021.  A further task 
and finish group has also now been established to look at responses to 
children with emerging mental health needs so that pathways to services are 
understood and consistent offers of support are in place.  This builds on a new 
pathway to improve information sharing when young people are admitted to 
CAMHS inpatient facilities so that a joined-up approach is in place across 
agencies. 

 
15. The pandemic period has also seen a slight increase in contacts with domestic 

abuse (DA)as the main contact reason, although slightly fewer of these have 
met the statutory threshold (down from 25.6% to 21.4%).  

 

 
 

16. At the same time work has continued to develop closer working across 
Children’s Social Care and Early Help screening, with the appointment of a 
Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) screening manager into the 
DA screening team based at Wigston Police station.  This enhanced offer aims 
to strengthen the pathway for families to be offered support services when 
incidents of domestic abuse emerge and when social work intervention is not 
judged to be appropriate.  Early indications are now showing more cases being 
directed to Early Help pathways when domestic abuse is the main contact 
reason, but the statutory threshold is not met. This aims to link more children 

17



 
 

to early help services to prevent escalation into statutory services in the future.  
A toolkit to support responses to DA has recently been launched as part of a 
more strategic focus on more tailored services to respond to domestic abuse 
more generally. 

 
Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) 
 

17. The impact of Covid on referrals to CFWS has been significant in four ways 

and this links to impacts on children and young people. Firstly, the overall 

increase in the number of families referred for support. During 2020-21 a total 

of 2,626 families were referred to the Children and Family Wellbeing Service.  

This figure does not include children and young people referred to Youth 

Justice via the criminal justice system and does not include all families 

identified via the Notification of Prospective Parents workstream with 

midwifery.  By comparison, in 2019-20 the total number of families referred 

was 2,292, a difference of 329 families. 

18. Secondly, the usual distribution of referrals throughout the year has also been 

significantly disrupted, meaning that the normal pattern of peaks and troughs 

in referral has not been realised. One of the most striking differences was the 

significant drop off experienced from April 2020, in line with the first national 

lockdown. This is illustrated in the time series graph below. 

 

 

19. In pre-Covid years, a normal pattern of referral is for numbers to remain stable 

from April through to June and then there is usually a significant increase in 

the first two weeks of July, as schools increase their rate of referral due to 

18



 
 

concerns for the wellbeing of children over the school holidays.  August is 

usually the quietest month for referrals, with numbers then steadily increasing 

towards the end of the school term. For 2020-21 the first and third national 

lockdowns have had greatest impact on referral rates, i.e. when children were 

not in school, they decreased.  Figures for January 2021 were significantly 

lower than in previous years (243 compared to 315 in the previous year) but 

appear to be increasing again since schools returned, although that increase 

has paused over the school holidays. 

20. Thirdly, the nature of the referrals received, particularly from September 

onwards, have been significantly different. Whilst the service has limited data 

on the nature of referrals, the picture is further clarified by the observation of 

triage and screening staff. During 2020-21 there has been a marked increase 

in referrals where the primary reason for referral is child mental health 

concerns – more than double the previous year (160 referrals versus 374). 

Whilst this is a significant increase, anecdotal evidence from practice suggests 

that this figure is much higher but may not have been identified as the main 

reason for the referral.  Typically, high level anxiety has been seen in children 

alongside low mood.  This increased each time children were due to return to 

school.  In addition to child mental health concerns, the service has also seen 

an increase in adult mental health worries where this is having an impact on 

parenting, and an increase in referrals relating to child behaviour concerns.  

Both triage and locality teams report an increase in the complexity and 

multiplicity of issues seen in referrals.  Not surprisingly, poverty and low 

income, loss of employment, housing concerns, and household conflict have 

all been significant factors in the referrals received. 

 

21. Finally, service involvement with families has looked different, and some 

families have remained in contact with the service for longer. Whilst home 

visits have continued to families throughout the pandemic, the number of visits 

has greatly reduced and been restricted to those where the Covid-19 risk 

assessment indicates that a level of face to face contact was needed.  Much of 

the service delivery has been provided ‘on-line’, over the telephone, and by 

doorstep visits to drop off resources which are then worked through with the 

family online.  Early analysis suggests that cases have remained open to the 

service for a longer period than would normally be expected.  It is thought that 

this is the result of two factors: taking longer to develop a working relationship 

with families due to being unable to visit and continuing uncertainty and lack of 

control making positive change much harder to achieve and sustain in families.  

Families living under stress are less likely to be able to adapt and change and 

then sustain that change. 

 

 

 

 

19



 
 

Education Effectiveness 

22. Leicestershire Education Effectiveness Partnership (LEEP) undertook a survey 

in December 2020 to understand the “catch-up” issues for children and young 

people following the first lockdown. Two secondary and twenty primary schools 

took part and key areas identified were: 

 Emotional wellbeing is a significant concern 

 KS1 and KS2 writing and writing stamina and reading follows this, particularly 

in response to the teaching of the key skills needed to learn to read 

 School readiness and independence for younger pupils 

 The impact of bubble closures on time spent in school was very variable 

which has caused an unlevel playing field 

 The retention of learning taught pre lockdown 

 Issues with access to technology and devices  

 Impact on SEND and the support available.  

 

23. A further survey was undertaken to better understand the impact of remote 

learning on pupils during lockdown and assess the extent of a ‘digital divide’ 

for Leicestershire Learners. Fifty-one schools participated in this survey and 

the key findings of the survey were: 

 The biggest barrier for Primary Schools was parental engagement, this 

affected most schools 

 Schools felt that families with two working parents experienced the greatest 

barrier to Remote Learning 

 Lack of devices for schools were specific to school and the circumstances,  

 Primary Schools are more likely to have issues of connectivity than 

Secondary schools, Secondary Schools are more likely to have issues of 

remote learning engagement than Primary Schools, but Primary Schools are 

more likely to have the extreme issues 

 Looked After Children and pupils with an Education Health and Care Plan had 

the least digital divide impact through lockdown 

 There was moderate impact on Children in Need, those with English as an 

Additional Language and SEN groups of pupils 

 Pupil Premium and Free School Meals pupils experienced the greatest impact 

of a digital divide during lockdown 

 There was an impact on larger families having suitable access to devices 

during lockdown 

 A general lack of engagement was more of an issue for schools than issues 

driven by connectivity 

 Access and quality of broadband has some severe impacts but is not an 

overwhelming issue.  The most important issue around the technical 

infrastructure is having enough devices and suitable devices 

 Much of the feedback shows that connectivity or engagement issues are 

specific to a school’s location, cohort make-up or relationship with its parents, 

20



 
 

rather than being determined by levels of Free School Meals, degree of 

rurality or Ofsted rating. 

 
How have we responded? 

24. Staff and leaders in Leicestershire have worked tirelessly over the course of 

the pandemic to support the most vulnerable children during this period and 

have put arrangements in place to ensure scrutiny of the safety and well-being 

of children and young people the service supports and cares for.  As a result, 

the service has been able to demonstrate that whilst numbers of contacts have 

reduced during the period of the pandemic, these have generally been those 

targeted at Early Help and it responded proactively to meet increased demand 

in  key Child Protection activities such as Strategy discussions, Section 47 

enquiries and Initial Child Protection conferences, giving  the service 

confidence that it is continuing to work effectively to keep children safe.  All 

Children in Care and children subject to child protection plans have been 

prioritised for allocation despite increased demand and any short-term impact 

of this demand in some areas of the service affecting Child in Need planning 

has had careful senior management oversight and systematic responses put in 

place for each case affected.  Children in Care numbers have remained 

relatively stable following expected trends during this period and placement 

sufficiency has continued to meet demand.  Placement stability has been 

maintained and in October is 4%. 

25. Staff have been supported to maintain service delivery to children with further 

roll out of already established home and remote working models. Staff have 

made good use of mobile technology to manage day-to-day communications 

with children and families and used virtual meetings through Skype/Microsoft 

Teams for key planning and decision-making meetings. All workers have 

shown inventive ways of engaging children such as virtually joining in on some 

family time like singing or crafts. Children have fed back that they like the 

opportunity of using technology to show social workers their rooms and 

activities.   Older young people, including care leavers, have informed their 

plan for contact ensuring a balance between preventing isolation with feelings 

of being overwhelmed by professional contact. Children in Care Council 

meetings and the Children in Care Choir have been held virtually as have 

other events to help children to stay connected, including a virtual ceremony 

for the Lord Lieutenant’s Awards and an online ‘Leicestershire’s Got Talent’ 

competition. The service has continued to keep close contact with all care 

leavers, particularly those care leavers who live alone and has financed mental 

health support for these young people where they don’t meet the threshold for 

children and adolescent mental health services.  

26. Since the start of lockdown, all open cases, new assessments and Targeted 

Early Help cases have had a Covid-19 risk assessment completed informing a 

risk mitigation plan.  This process includes identification of safety people who 

are within the child’s network and consideration of the child’s vulnerabilities 

and how this may be increased in light of the lockdown.  The risk assessment 

informs the frequency and type of contact with the child through a RAG rating 

21



 
 

to inform the response.  These are now embedded in the recording system 

and provide performance data to senior leaders. 

27. At the start of lockdown, the department coordinated food parcels for families 

in crisis who were receiving a service from the department. Since March 2020  

1313 food parcels have been delivered supporting 2427 children across 

Leicestershire,  a click and collect service has operated from the four 

‘community fridges’ at  Children and Families Wellbeing Centres for in-need 

local residents,  families have been signposted to local foodbanks and work 

has taken place to coordinate with Adult services where families have been 

‘shielding’.  

28. The pandemic has required an urgent multi-agency response and in response 

the service has increased its dialogue with multi-agency partners.  Since the 

start of the pandemic, weekly meetings have been taking place with key 

partners through multiple ‘cells’; a number of these have focused on good 

communication and co-ordination across health, social care, education and 

policing.  These meetings have ensured that safeguarding and service 

provision to children has been prioritised, and service provision in response to 

domestic abuse has been strengthened. 

29. In May the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership launched a safeguarding 

campaign called “Their door is closed but ours is open” to promote the 

reporting of concerns relating to children.   The service has been keeping close 

oversight of the level of activity at its Front Door and has been looking at 

demand management and predictive modelling to consider, plan and prepare 

what an increase in demand would look like on service areas from September.  

The service was well prepared for an expected increase in demand in 

September following children returning to school, further loosening of lockdown 

rules and potential effects of a second/further lockdown.  Despite an increase 

in contacts and referrals in September, this has been in line with previous 

monthly averages and the levels of activity have in fact started to stabilise.  

This has given assurance that the service has responded to the right children 

and taken the right action at the right time during lockdown.  

30. Children and Family Services have continued to focus on the emotional 

wellbeing of young people in both the specific Covid-19 risk assessments of 

individual children with an allocated social worker and also by close liaison 

strategically with Education colleagues during lockdown.   899 laptops were 

received from the Department for Education (DfE) scheme and 894 have been 

allocated to vulnerable children either directly or via their school to allow them 

to maintain contact virtually. 

31. Throughout the pandemic the service has offered advice, guidance and 

support to schools and early years providers for remote learning, on-site 

support for key worker and vulnerable children and returning to classrooms 

and settings. The strategic work with Education colleagues has also included a 

risk assessment process for children with EHCPs which has been embedded 

during lockdown and schools submitting fortnightly updates to the Local 

Authority.  Any schools/providers that did not respond were followed up by 

22



 
 

email and telephone call. All children who are identified by schools as at risk of 

not receiving appropriate support were followed up with officers making direct 

contact with the school and the family. The attendance data for these children 

was also being shared with social workers for any necessary follow up and 

liaison to discuss and encourage school attendance where it was safe to do so 

and establish good lines of communication with schools.  The Virtual School 

have reported that virtual PEPs have been effective and that children are being 

supported to be prepared to contribute in the new way of holding the meeting.  

32. The current use of virtual child protection conferences has introduced the use 

of secure email to share documents, including child protection plans and 

records of meetings, to all professionals and families in a timely way. The 

flexibility of virtual child protection conferences has seen an improvement in 

attendance of some partner agencies, for example GP’s and CAMHS. 

Feedback from families has been positive and some have identified that it 

allows them to feel less anxious and more engaged in the meeting.  

Observations of meetings and feedback from partners and staff has confirmed 

that the quality of planning and engagement using virtual meetings has 

remained strong. 

33. All but essential face to face contact for Children in Care with families was 

suspended at the outset of the pandemic and a plan to provide virtual contacts 

was implemented. Changes in regulations and guidance along with a greater 

understanding of Covid-19 and robust risk management have enabled 

resumption of some face-to-face contacts where deemed safe. Work was 

undertaken to ensure contact centres met Covid Safe Guidelines, allowing a 

hybrid model of face to face and virtual contact being established from July 

2020 following the initial lockdown.  The service is maintaining its commitment 

to facilitate some face-to-face contact prioritised according to communication 

with the local courts, children and their families and carers as guidance and 

restrictions change.  

34. The service has continued to invest in its family of foster carers by providing 

access to excellent training and support and foster carers have been a key 

focus during the pandemic.  The department made use of its on-line portal 

which allowed it to get information out rapidly and it established an ‘invite-only’ 

fostering Facebook account to ensure it could get messages out to carers 

quickly, provide offers of support, activity ideas and offer a forum for carers to 

share and support one another.   The service sourced and distributed bespoke 

family hampers for all its foster carers and supported living placements 

containing activities, pizza making/cookie kits, therapeutic books and games 

which were very gratefully received. Training for carers has continued to be 

delivered virtually and the Facebook group continues to be well used for peer 

support and communication. 

35. DfE has recognised that school holidays can be pressure points for some 

families because of increased costs and reduced incomes and that some 

children are more likely to experience ‘unhealthy holidays’ in terms of nutrition 

and physical health. In response to this the DfE has expanded its Holiday 

Activities and Food funding to all local authorities for 2021 so that children on 

23



 
 

free school meals in England can be offered free healthy meals and enriching 

activities over the Easter, summer and Christmas holidays. Leicestershire 

County Council has been awarded up to £1,323,150 to co-ordinate holiday 

provision over summer and Christmas and the service is currently working with 

partners to co-ordinate planning for the local programme. 

 

 
Resource Implications 
 

36. The longer-term impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is not yet clear but may 
result in further increases in the number of children and families requiring 
support with concerns over their short-term and long-term educational 
achievement and mental health. 

 
Conclusion 
 

37. The Committee is asked to consider the content of the report. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications   

 
38. There are no specific equality or human rights implications arising from this 

report. The Children and Family Service has an interest in ensuring that there 
are effective arrangements in place so that the services provided meet the 
identified needs of local children, young people and families.   

 
Background papers   
 
https://www.youngpeopleshealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Impact-of-
Covid-19-on-young-people-briefing.pdf 

 
https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/mental-health-covid19-in-
our-own-words-report.pdf   

   
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
39. None 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 3052649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Safeguarding Children Partnership - Coronavirus Health & Wellbeing 
Conversation for Young People across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, June 
2020 

24

https://www.youngpeopleshealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Impact-of-Covid-19-on-young-people-briefing.pdf
https://www.youngpeopleshealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Impact-of-Covid-19-on-young-people-briefing.pdf
https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/mental-health-covid19-in-our-own-words-report.pdf
https://www.barnardos.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/mental-health-covid19-in-our-own-words-report.pdf
mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk


Page 1 of 30 
 

 

  

 

 
 

Coronavirus Health & 

Wellbeing Conversation for 

Young People across Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland 

June 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Report compiled by Steph Logue (Rutland County Council), Ashley Poulton (Rutland 

County Council), Adrian Clifford (Leicestershire County Council), Jane McCormick 

(Leicestershire County Council) and Bez Martin (Leicester City Council) – see last page for 

contact details.  

  

25



Page 2 of 30 
 

CONTENTS 

Page 

1. Introduction         3 

 

2. Leicester City  

 

• Headline Themes       4 – 5 

• Summary        5 

• Response Summary (Speech Bubbles)    6 – 9 

• Words Clouds       9 - 10 

 

3. Leicestershire  

 

• Headline Themes       11 – 12 

• Response Summary (Speech Bubbles)    13 – 16 

• Word Clouds       17 

 

4. Rutland    

 

• Headline Themes       18 

• Summary        19 - 20 

• Respondent’s data      20 

• Response Summary (Speech Bubbles/Word Clouds)  20 - 25  

• Support Graph       26 

• Table of Responses showing percentages   27 

 

5. Conclusion         28 - 30 

 

6. Contacts re Inquiries       30 

 

 

 

 

  

26



Page 3 of 30 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

 

Amongst the global Coronavirus pandemic there is little known about the immediate impact 

on young people’s health and wellbeing.  

Barnardo’s initiated their ‘Big Barnardo’s Conversation’ campaign in May 2020 in order to 

highlight the impact of Covid-19 on children and young people across the UK. In order to 

gather a localised understanding this consultation was adapted with the permission of 

Barnardo’s and the endorsements of both Leicester City and Leicestershire & Rutland’s 

Safeguarding Children Partnerships to enable Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to obtain 

timely localised data.  

Young people were invited to complete an online survey over 18 days (10/06/20 - 28/06/20) 

to enable the quick processing of results and potential service responses in the ever-

changing landscape.  

The age range was extended up to 25 years to include young people with Special 

Educational Needs and Disability (SEND).  

Overall there were 676 responses to the survey: 
 

• Leicester – 455 

• Leicestershire – 147 

• Rutland – 74 
 
We received 77 responses from young people identifying themselves as SEND. 
 
The average age of those completing the survey was 14 years.  
   

LOCKDOWN 

It should be noted that on Tuesday 30th June, two days after the survey closed, Leicester and 

its outlying areas faced a localised ‘lockdown’ and results demonstrate a ‘snapshot’ in time 

prior to restrictions imposed.   

DATA 

Full survey data is available upon request. 

  

27



Page 4 of 30 
 

LEICESTER CITY 

HEADLINE THEMES 

 

The average age of Leicester City respondents was 14 years with 455 young people taking 

part in the survey, below are the key themes: 

Compared with feelings before lockdown, young people shared that they felt more stressed, 

which saw the biggest increase from feelings before lockdown. This was coupled with 

feeling lonely and having more trouble sleeping.  

Although being in lockdown has been difficult, young people have enjoyed being at home 

more. 

Young people felt it was harder to stay connected or talking to friends during lockdown. 

Doing enough school or college work was also harder during lockdown.  

Not seeing friends was the hardest thing during lockdown, with over half of respondents 

saying they found being bored and not being able to go outside the hardest. Although a 

small number of young people did state they found nothing hard about being in lockdown.  

The feeling felt the most during lockdown was boredom, with over two thirds of young 

people stating this. Other feelings felt the most during lockdown, was loneliness, worry, 

trapped and sadness, however just under a third also stated feeling comfort the most also.  

Young people said they felt people will be more thankful for the things they have more 

because of coronavirus. Although a half of all young people said they did not feel positive 

about their future because of coronavirus.  

Not learning enough because of coronavirus is the biggest worry for young people, with a 

third worried whether they can get a job in the future. Young people also worried if they 

were healthy enough with just over one fifth of respondents worrying for the health of their 

family and friends.  

Moving into life as lockdown restrictions are lifted, but where we are still social distancing, 

saw just over half of young people saying they were more worried about going out/ leaving 

home and more worried about returning to school /college. Just under half of all young 

people felt they would not be as connected with their friends.  

During lockdown young people have been online more than they would have been, and a 

quarter said they have seen more things online that made them uncomfortable or scared 

than they normally would. 

28



Page 5 of 30 
 

The support young people found the most helpful during lockdown was that from family 

and friends. Just over a third of young people found information online useful.  

Just over a half of all young people felt one of the impacts of coronavirus on their future was 

that it would make them more creative/ imaginative. 

SUMMARY  

 

The majority of young people reported that they found talking to their friends and family 

the most helpful support during this time with very few accessing professional services. It is 

hoped that as restrictions begin to ease those experiencing negative emotions will be able 

to talk more with friends and wider family who do not live in their household.  

Young people’s online activity naturally increased during lockdown, but there are concerns 

that a number stated seeing things that scared them more, young people could benefit from 

information on how to report concerns.  

As we prepare to reopen schools and colleges fully it is worth noting that returning there is 

a big worry for young people, and messages of reassurance and involving young people fully 

in plans for return will help mitigate this.  

Not learning enough has also been shared as a major worry, alongside worries for their 

future, such as getting a job. This is coupled with just under one fifth of young people 

worried about shops and businesses having to close. Young people may benefit from space 

to explore this with relevant professionals. 

Young people have experienced a range of emotions during this time, young people have 

been able to express positive as well as negative feelings, however there has been an 

increase in negative and fewer positive emotions. Young people will need support as they 

return to normal live to explore this and to mitigate any long-lasting impact.  

There is learning to be shared from time in lockdown, with young people stating the impact 

of coronavirus on their future being they will be able to bounce back from difficult 

situations, time should be spent exploring resilience and coping strategies that can be used 

in other aspects of their lives.  

It is worth exploring if young people having trouble sleeping more is related to a loss of 

routine or a symptom of underlying worries and/or concerns.  

Young people worried more about the happiness of their friends and family than their own. 

 

  

29



Page 6 of 30 
 

RESPONSE SUMMARY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



Page 7 of 30 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31



Page 8 of 30 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 75% missed school/college a little or a lot. 

• 38% found doing school or college work a lot harder in 

lockdown. 

• When thinking about the impact of the easing of restrictions 

and the future when they can go back to school over half of 

respondents were more worried about returning to 

school/college. 

• Just under half of respondents were more worried about going 

out/ leaving home after the easing of restrictions. 

• 10% found it hard not being able to talk to adults outside of 

family, like teachers, Social Workers or Youth Workers. 

• 17% have missed playing for sports teams. 

 

 

 

32



Page 9 of 30 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33



Page 10 of 30 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

34



Page 11 of 30 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE 

HEADLINE THEMES 

 

A total of 147 young people from across Leicestershire completed the online survey, with the 

average age of respondents being 14 years old. 

The gender split between young people taking part was comparatively even. 

From analysis of the data, the following key themes can be identified and reflected upon: - 

The majority of young people evidently disliked the impact of lockdown upon their day-to-
day lives and requirement to stay indoors at home. 

 

Young people confirmed they had missed going to school / college and that completing 
academic study had become more difficult.  Additional anxiety was also reported, regarding 
young people knowing how much study to complete.   

 
Evidently inter-linked with not attending school / college, was young people reporting 
increased difficulty regarding talking with friends and not being able to maintain peer 
relationships.  

 
Baseline data also confirmed young people had experienced difficulty in finding things to do 
and positively occupy their time. 

 
Young people clearly stated that Covid-19 and the impact of lockdown had resulted in the 
majority experiencing increased anxiety, worry and feelings of sadness.  A significant number 
also reported increased difficulty sleeping. 

 
Young people identified feeling lonely, with some also reporting increased stress and 
instances of anger. 

 
When asked what young people had found hardest, the majority identified not being able to 
see friends throughout lockdown.  Issues concerning boredom were also identified by over 
half of all respondents.  

 
Other factors identified as impacting upon young people, included not being able to visit or 
have contact with extended family members and being unable to go outside as much. 

 
As a result of Covid-19, nearly half of young people surveyed think people will be more willing 
to help each other and also communicate and keep in touch more. 

 
Young people also think a further outcome will be that people will become more thankful for 
the things they have. 

 

35



Page 12 of 30 
 

When asked what young people are most worried about, the majority identified concerns 
regarding their education and whether they had been learning enough.   Other concerns 
included young people worrying about friends, relationships and the overall happiness of 
their friends and family members. 

 
A number of young people identified that the experience of lockdown had made them feel an 
increased sense of resilience and potentially more able to bounce back from difficult or 
challenging situations. 

 
Young people also reflected that in future they would feel more appreciative and thankful for 
what they have.  A significant proportion also described that the experience of lockdown 
would make them more creative and imaginative. 

 
However, following lockdown, young people did report concerns regarding going out / leaving 
home and also not feeling as connected to their friends. 

 
Young people also reported feeling more worried about returning to school / college. 

 
Throughout the period of lockdown, young people confirmed that they had spent far more 
time online, using social media apps and visiting websites. 

 
A proportion of young people stated that they had viewed online material that had resulted 
in them feeling uncomfortable.  However, any increased prevalence of online bullying was 
not reported.   

 
Young people identified friends and family as their greatest source of support during the 
period of lockdown. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

36



Page 13 of 30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• 33% of young people 
stated that they had felt 
more worried during 
lockdown. 

37



Page 14 of 30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

38



Page 15 of 30 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                         
 

 
 
 

39



Page 16 of 30 
 

 
                                                     

 
 
 

40



Page 17 of 30 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE - WORDS CLOUDS 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

41



Page 18 of 30 
 

RUTLAND 
 
HEADLINE THEMES 

 

The average age of Rutland respondents was 15 years with 74 young people taking part in the 

survey, below are the key themes: 

Overwhelmingly young people have experienced feelings of boredom and increased 
loneliness with not seeing friends conveyed as one of the hardest things about lockdown. 

 
Compared to before lockdown young people have experienced an increase in negative 
feelings such as stress and sadness. Two thirds reported that they do not feel positive about 
the future because of coronavirus. 

 

Some young people have enjoyed the experience of being at home more with almost half 
agreeing that Coronavirus has made them more thankful for what they have and think that 
people will be more willing to help each other out because of coronavirus in the future.  

 

Not attending school has impacted on respondents with nearly half reporting missing school 
and finding it a lot harder to complete school or college work, leading them to worry about 
whether they are learning enough and what this means for their future and progression. 

 
Friends and family have provided the most helpful support network for young people during 
this time with a third also reporting that they found it beneficial to talk to a teacher or 
someone else at school.   

 
Being unable to see family who don’t live in the same household during lockdown has been 
hard for some young people.  

 
Young people’s online activity has increased dramatically with a small percentage reporting 
this as a negative experience.  

 
Less than a quarter of respondents reported being worried about returning to school or 
college. Most respondents are looking forward to returning to see friends and have a sense 
of ‘normality’ however expressed concerns about their exposure to the virus and the potential 
for a ‘second wave’.  

 
Respondents would like to be supported with increased open conversations about mental 
health and increased signposting to support services when returning to school or college. 

 

 

 

 

42



Page 19 of 30 
 

SUMMARY 

 

Rutland responses were limited and as such the reader is advised to note that data will not 

be statistically robust. It is worth noting that the survey was completed during nationwide 

‘lockdown’ and since its completion some restrictions have eased. 

 

Responses suggest that not seeing friends is one of the hardest things young people faced 

about lockdown. The results indicate that during lockdown and the time frame that the survey 

was carried out young people were experiencing more negative emotions such as stress, 

loneliness and sadness.   

The majority of young people reported that they found talking to their friends and family the 

most helpful support during this time with very few accessing professional services. It is hoped 

that as restrictions begin to ease those experiencing negative emotions will be able to talk 

more with friends and wider family who do not live in their household. 

 

Understandably there has been a dramatic increase in the amount of time that young people 

are online, but a minority of respondents have found this to be negative, seeing more things 

that made them feel uncomfortable or experiencing negativity. Young people would 

consequently benefit from information about how to report concerns.  

 

Respondents are concerned about both the immediate and long-term effects of the pandemic 

on their education and career prospects as well as the potential ‘second wave’ of the virus. A 

small proportion of respondents are worried about returning to school or college with the 

majority looking forward to it. The responses suggest that young people will take comfort 

from a return of routine and being able to spend time with their peers.  

 

Respondents are very concerned about the impact on their studies, future prospects and do 

not feel positive about the future over-all and would benefit from being supported gradually 

to return to school or college with options to access additional support.  

 

43



Page 20 of 30 
 

Professionals need to be mindful that young people have experienced a range of emotions 

throughout this time and that they have identified that they would like to be supported by 

being given the opportunity to discuss and validate their feelings and ongoing concerns.  

 
 

 

RESPONDENT’S DATA 

 
 
 
o 74 young people completed the survey live in Rutland  

o Over half of the respondents were female accounting for 55%.  

o The average age of respondents was 15 

o 19 respondents identified themselves as having SEND 

o 93% identified as English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British 

o 2% of respondents did not attend school or college  

 

RESPONSE SUMMARY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

44



Page 21 of 30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

o 42% reported that they were 

finding it a lot harder now to 

complete their school or college 

work. 

 

45



Page 22 of 30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

46



Page 23 of 30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

o 66% reported that they have spent more time online 

than they would normally with 11% reporting that they 

had seen more things that made them uncomfortable or 

scared and 6% experiencing negativity or bullying during 

this time.   

o Talking to a teacher or someone else at school was 

reported as quite helpful by 30%. 

 

47



Page 24 of 30 
 

o When asked about how they felt about returning to school or college respondents 

reported looking forward to seeing friends with some concern about the exposure that 

this will bring  

 

“I really want to return to college. I'm looking forward to seeing my friends and 

teachers, but I am worried about being exposed to the virus” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
o Respondents were asked what about their top concerns for the coming months, over a 

third are concerned about the impact on their education and future followed by concerns 

that there will be a second wave 

 

“Personally, whether I'll be happy with my GCSE grades and whether I will have 

prepared enough for college. Generally, that people are going to start going 

against lockdown restrictions causing it to be extended/ a second spike” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Fig.1 

48



Page 25 of 30 
 

o Respondents would like to be supported with increased open conversations about mental 

health and increased signposting to support services when returning to school or college 

 

“Encouraging students to talk about how they are feeling and not overloading 

them” 

 

“Actually, start conversations about mental health - mental health facilities ……. 

Also make sure extra curricula’s can still be continued, as these boost mental 

health like nothing else” 

 

“Don’t pressure anyone into saying anything but make a more open and 

comforting environment for students to talk. 

Don’t pretend our emotions don’t exist. We are under a lot of pressure and you 

don’t know our stories” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

49



Page 26 of 30 
 

SUPPORT GRAPH 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



Page 27 of 30 
 

TABLE OF RESPONSES 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

51



Page 28 of 30 
 

CONCLUSION  

 

Responses across the 3 authorities were limited in relation to population as a whole and as 

such the reader is advised to note that data will not be statistically robust. Leicester City had 

by far the largest response. It is worth noting that the survey was completed during 

nationwide ‘lockdown’ and since its completion some restrictions have eased. 

 

Generally, it would be fair to say that most young people have been quite resilient during the 

Covid-19 pandemic period but for some young people, their emotional health and wellbeing 

was affected. This is expanded upon below.   

 

Responses suggest that not seeing friends is one of the hardest things young people faced 

about lockdown. The majority disliked the impact of lockdown upon their day-to-day lives and 

requirement to stay indoors at home and not being able to visit or have contact with extended 

family members.  Inter-linked with not attending school or college, young people reported 

increased difficulty regarding talking with friends and not being able to maintain peer 

relationships.  

 

Young people clearly stated that Covid-19 and the impact of lockdown had resulted in the 

majority experiencing increased anxiety, worry and feelings of sadness.  A significant number 

also reported increased difficulty sleeping. Some also reporting increased stress and instances 

of anger, however young people reported that they found talking to their friends and family 

the most helpful support during this time with very few accessing professional services. It is 

hoped that as restrictions begin to ease those experiencing negative emotions will be able to 

talk more with friends and wider family who do not live in their household.  

 

When asked what young people are most worried about, the majority identified concerns 

regarding their education and whether they had been learning enough.   Other concerns 

included young people worrying about friends, relationships and the overall happiness of 

their friends and family members. 

 

52



Page 29 of 30 
 

Throughout the period of lockdown, young people confirmed that they had spent far more 

time online, using social media apps and visiting websites, but there are concerns that a 

number stated seeing things that scared them more. However, any increased prevalence of 

online bullying was not reported.  Young people could benefit from information on how to 

report concerns.  

 

Young people have experienced a range of emotions during this time, young people have 

been able to express positive as well as negative feelings, however there has been an increase 

in negative and fewer positive emotions. Young people will need support as they return to 

normal life to explore this and to mitigate any long-lasting impact. It is worth exploring if 

young people having trouble sleeping more is related to a loss of routine or a symptom of 

underlying worries and/or concerns. 

 

There is learning to be shared from time in lockdown, with young people stating the impact 

of coronavirus on their future being they will be able to bounce back from difficult situations, 

time should be spent exploring resilience and coping strategies that can be used in other 

aspects of their lives. Young people also think a further outcome will be that people will 

become more thankful for the things they have, and a significant proportion also described 

that the experience of lockdown would make them more creative and imaginative. Nearly 

half of young people surveyed think people will be more willing to help each other and also 

communicate and keep in touch more. 

 

Respondents are concerned about both the immediate and long-term effects of the pandemic 

on their education and career prospects as well as the potential ‘second wave’ of the virus. A 

small proportion of respondents are worried about returning to school or college with the 

majority looking forward to it. The responses suggest that young people will take comfort 

from a return of routine and being able to spend time with their peers. 

 

As we prepare to reopen schools and colleges fully it is worth noting that returning there is a 

big worry for young people, and messages of reassurance and involving young people fully in 

plans for return will help mitigate this. Not learning enough has also been shared as a major 

worry, alongside worries for their future, such as getting a job.  

53



Page 30 of 30 
 

 

 

Professionals need to be mindful that young people have experienced a range of emotions 

throughout this time and that they have identified that they would like to be supported by 

being given the opportunity to discuss and validate their feelings and ongoing concerns. 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts for Inquiries:  

Steph Logue, Health & Wellbeing Development Officer, Young People’s Services, Rutland 

County Council, Tel: 01572 758301 |ext. 6009| m: 07500051016, slogue@rutland.gov.uk  

 

Adrian Clifford, Participation Officer, Corporate Parenting Team, Safeguarding and 

Improvement Unit, Leicestershire County Council, T: 0116 3057613, M: 07852474826 

Adrian.Clifford@leics.gov.uk  

 

Jane McCormick, Voice Worker, Children & Family Services, Leicestershire County Council, 

Jane.McCormick@leics.gov.uk Work Phone: 0116 305 5720 

 

Bez Martin, Manager, Rights & Participation Service, Leicester City Council, 

Bez.Martin@leicester.gov.uk M: 07710 148 497 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
A large print version of this document is available 
on request 

54

mailto:slogue@rutland.gov.uk
mailto:Adrian.Clifford@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jane.McCormick@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Bez.Martin@leicester.gov.uk


 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 1JUNE 

2021 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 

REPORT OF THE 
DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1.  The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an overview of the 

work of the Children and Family Services Department.   
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2.  The Children Act 2004 requires every upper tier local authority to appoint a 

Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and designate a Lead Member for 
Children’s Services (LMCS).  

 
3. The DCS and LMCS are appointed for the purposes of discharging the 

education and children’s social services functions of the local authority. The 
functions for which they are responsible are set out in section 18(2) of the 
Children Act 2004. This includes (but is not limited to) responsibility for children 
and young people receiving education or children’s social care services in their 
area and all children looked after by the local authority or in custody (regardless 
of where they are placed).  

 
4. Working together to Safeguard Children 2018 sets out the legislative 

requirements placed on individual services to safeguard children, provides a 
framework for the three local safeguarding partners (the local authority, clinical 
commissioning group and the chief officer of police for a police area, any part of 
which falls within the local authority area) to make arrangements to work 
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of local children. 

 
5. Whilst it is parents and carers who have primary care for their children, local 

authorities, working with partner organisations and agencies, have specific 
duties to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in their area. The 
Children Acts of 1989 and 2004 set out specific duties: section 17 of the 
Children Act 1989 puts a duty on the local authority to provide services to 
children in need in their area, regardless of where they are found; section 47 of 
the same Act requires local authorities to undertake enquiries if they believe a 
child has suffered or is likely to suffer significant harm. 

 
Department Overview 

55 Agenda Item 11



 

 
6. The vision of the Children and Family Services Department is for Leicestershire 

to be the best place for all children, young people, and their families. This vision 
is underpinned by the mission statement that children and young people in 
Leicestershire are safe and living in families where they can achieve their 
potential and have their health, wellbeing and life chances improved within 
thriving communities. 

 
7. The Children and Family Services Department Plan 2020 – 2023 sets out four 

key ambitions for the Department, to: 
 

 Help every child to get the best possible start in life 

 Help children and their families build strength, resilience, confidence, and 
capacity 

 Help children to live in safe, stable environments and have secure 
attachments 

 Help every child to have access to good quality education to ensure they 
achieve their maximum potential 

 
8. The Services in the department, alongside a range of partners, work to deliver 

these ambitions. The work of each Service is set out in the Annual Service 
Delivery Plans. 

 
Statutory Framework 
 
The Director of Children and Family Services  
 
9. Section 18 of the Children Act 2004 requires every top tier local authority to 

appoint a Director of Children’s Services (DCS). In Leicestershire, this post is 
referred to as the Director of Children and Family Services (DCFS). The DCFS 
has professional responsibility for the leadership, strategy, and effectiveness of 
local authority children’s services. The DCFS is responsible for securing the 
provision of services which address the needs of all children and young people, 
including the most disadvantaged and vulnerable, and their families and carers.  

 
10. In discharging these responsibilities, the DCFS needs to work closely with other 

local partners to improve the outcomes and well-being of children and young 
people. The DCS is also responsible for the performance of local authority 
functions relating to the education and social care of children and young 
people.  

 
The Lead Member for Children’s Services (LMCS) 
 
11. Section 19 of the Children Act 2004 requires every top tier local authority to 

designate one of its members as Lead Member for Children’s Services. The 
LMCS, as a member of the Cabinet, has political responsibility for the 
leadership, strategy, and effectiveness of local authority children’s services. 
The LMCS is also democratically accountable to local communities and has a 
key role in defining the local vision and setting political priorities for children’s 
services within the broader political context of the Council.  

56



 

 
12. The Lead Member is responsible for providing strong, strategic leadership and 

support and challenge to the DCFS and relevant members of their senior team 
as appropriate.  

 
Roles and Responsibilities of Children’s Services 
 
13. Local authorities are bound by almost 300 statutory duties in relation to 

children’s services. A broad summary of the duties is set out below. 
 
Safeguarding  
 
14. Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 requires local authorities and other named 

statutory partners to make arrangements to ensure that their functions are 
discharged with a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children.  

 
15. The DCFS has the responsibility within the local authority for improving 

outcomes for children and young people, children’s social care functions and 
local cooperation arrangements for children’s services.  

 
16. The DCFS also has a crucial role in ensuring collaboration and dialogue with 

the family courts so that high quality local authority assessments and other 
evidence contribute to effective and timely court processes for children.  

 
Vulnerable children and young people 
 
17. The CFS Department is responsible for working with partners to promote 

prevention and early intervention and offer early help so that emerging 
problems are dealt with before they become more serious. More specifically, 
the DCFS and LMCS in their respective roles: - 

 

 have a shared responsibility with all officers and members of the local 
authority to act as effective and caring corporate parents for looked after 
children, with key roles in improving their educational attainment, providing 
stable and high quality placements and proper planning for when they leave 
care.  

 must ensure that disabled children and those with special educational needs 
(SEN) can access high quality provision that meets their needs and fund 
provision for children with an Education, Health and Care Plan.  

 must ensure arrangements are in place for alternative provision for children 
outside mainstream education or missing education (for example due to 
permanent exclusion or illness) to receive suitable full-time education. 

 should ensure there is coherent planning between all agencies providing 
services for children involved in the youth justice system, secure the 
provision of education for young people in custody and ensure that 
safeguarding responsibilities are effectively carried out. 

 should understand local need and secure provision of services, taking 
account of the benefits of prevention and early intervention and the 
importance of co- operating with other agencies to offer early help to 
children, young people, and families.  

57



 

 
Fair access to services  
 
18. The Department is responsible for promoting the interests of children, young 

people, parents, and families and working with local communities to stimulate 
and support a diversity of school, early years and 16-19 provision that meets 
local needs. The DCFS and LMCS in their respective roles:  

 

 must ensure fair access to all schools for every child in accordance with the 
statutory School Admissions and School Admissions Appeal Codes and 
ensure appropriate information is provided to parents  

 must ensure provision for suitable home to school transport arrangements  

 should actively promote a diverse supply of strong schools, including by 
encouraging good schools to expand and, where there is a need for a new 
school, seeking proposals for an Academy or Free School  

 should promote high quality early years provision, including helping to 
develop the market, securing free early education for all three and four year 
olds and for all disadvantaged two year olds, providing information, advice 
and assistance to parents and prospective parents, and ensuring sufficient 
childcare for working parents  

 should promote children’s and young people’s participation in public 
decision- making so they can influence local commissioners 

 should promote participation in education or training of young people, 
including by securing provision for young people aged 16-19 (or 25 for those 
with learning difficulties/disabilities). 

 
Educational Excellence  
 
19. Working with headteachers, school governors and Multi Academy Trusts and 

Academies, the CFS Department is responsible for promoting educational 
excellence for all children and young people and being ambitious in tackling 
underperformance. The DCFS and LMCS should in their respective roles:  

 

 take rapid and decisive action in relation to poorly performing schools, 
including using their intervention powers with regard to maintained schools 
and considering alternative structural and operational solutions  

 develop robust school improvement strategies, including choosing whether 
to offer such services in a competitive and open school improvement 
market, working beyond local authority boundaries  

 promote high standards in education by supporting effective school to 
school collaboration and providing local leadership for tackling issues 
needing attention which cut across more than one school, such as poor 
performance in a particular subject area across a cluster of schools  

 support maintained schools in delivering an appropriate National Curriculum 
and early years providers in meeting the requirements of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage (as outlined in the EYFS Statutory Framework)  

 establish a schools’ forum for their area, maintain a scheme for financing 
maintained schools and provide financial information 

58



 

 undertake specified responsibilities in relation to staffing and governance of 
maintained schools.  

 
Staff Numbers 
 
20. There are 1218 (1060 FTE) staff who work in the Children and Family Services 

Department across 28 Services and 107 teams. The department is organised 
into two operational sections lead by two Assistant Directors; Targeted Early 
Help and Social Care and Education and SEND. Commissioning and Business 
Services are managed centrally via the Director of Children and Family 
Services. A detailed structure of the Service can be found in Appendix A. 

 
Services 
 
21. The Children and Family Services Department delivers its statutory functions, 

roles, and responsibilities through its Services. Each Service is led by a Service 
Manager who reports into a Head of Service who is responsible for the 
leadership and management of an area of the department’s business. 

 
Targeted Early Help and Children’s Social Care 
 
Head of Service: Safeguarding, Improvement, Quality Assurance and Practice 
Excellence 
 
First Response –Screening and Assessment 
 
22. First Response provides the immediate response to all new contacts from 

members of the public and professionals in relation to children and young 
people.  These range from information sharing, requests for Early Help support, 
and social work support.   

 
23. The screening process applies the Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) 

threshold for intervention to provide robust and timely responses applying 
careful oversight and performance measure to provide assurance. This is 
coordinated closely with colleagues from the Children and Families Wellbeing 
Service (CFWS) to avoid drift and delay when support is required. 

 
24. Requests for social worker intervention, both planned and in response to 

immediate safeguarding concerns, are progressed to a team of social workers 
who carry out assessments of need and risk in line with statutory 
responsibilities, with robust management oversight and close liaison with key 
agencies including local schools, health and police. 

 
First Response – Vulnerability Hub, including Out of Hours provision 
 
25. The vulnerability hub is co-located with the police at Wigston Police Station and 

provides carefully coordinated responses to the screening of all domestic abuse 
notifications together with police and Early Help colleagues.  This includes daily 
information sharing with schools in line with Operation Encompass, whereby 
schools are formally notified of any reported incident of domestic violence at an 

59



 

address at which children are present or normally resident and representing 
children's social care in daily Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) meetings for high-risk domestic abuse victims.  

 
26. The Hub also represents the multiagency response to Child Exploitation, 

building on the original Child Sexual Exploitation team and taking a broad 
proactive approach to all forms of exploitation, including responses to missing 
and multiagency management plans for children where risk is assessed to be 
high. The team benefits from close working arrangements with the Police, 
Leicester City and Rutland colleagues and those from health and education.  
The Hub also provides a base for the Out of Hours service which delivers timely 
responses to children out of normal office hours. 

 
Safeguarding and Performance Service 
 
27. The Safeguarding and Performance Service has a broad range of key service 

activities undertaken by three specialist teams: The Independent Reviewing 
Officer (IRO) Service, Quality Assurance Team, and Corporate Parenting 
Team.  

 
28. The Service delivers the statutory responsibility to provide independent 

oversight and critical challenge plans for children in care and subject to child 
protection plans in Leicestershire but also leads the department's Quality 
Assurance framework to drive improvement, with key responsibilities for both 
performance management and quality assurance by means of thematic audits, 
linked to improvement objectives and service specific learning.  At the heart of 
both of these processes is ensuring that the voice and views of children and 
young people are captured and are central to decision making in assessment 
and planning processes and in measuring the impact of intervention. 

 
29. The Head of Service is also responsible for the Safeguarding Business Office 

which supports the key work of the Safeguarding Partnership across 
Leicestershire and Rutland and key areas across LLR.  

 
Practice Excellence 
 
30. The Practice Excellence team provides leadership and direction to teams, 

managers, and practitioners to support improvement in the quality of practice 
with children and families across the department.  The team supports staff to 
fully embed the departmental practice framework and has well established links 
to the quality assurance work so that emerging learning is shared 
systematically via coaching, mentoring, training, virtual workshops and 
individual support to teams and practitioners. 

 
31. The team leads the implementation of the Signs of Safety practice approach 

and contributes to the sub-regional and national community. 
 
32. The team applies a range of approaches and coordinates, analyses, and 

disseminates the findings and conclusions from quality assurance activities, 

60



 

feedback, from children and their families and the workforce to inform the 
Continuous Improvement Plan.   

 
Head of Service: Early Help and Safer Communities 
 
Children and Family Wellbeing Service 
 
33. The Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) is focused on providing 

early support to children and families to build strength and resilience. The 
service works with families who may encounter a broad spectrum of issues, 
including those who may be on the cusp of requiring specialist statutory 
services. The CFWS provides support or advice to all members of the family 
(the whole family approach), as appropriate to the circumstances. 

 
34. The service has a focus on school inclusion and assisting families to receive 

the most appropriate support for their child’s needs to help in building resilience 
in families. As such, developing pathways and services for children with special 
educational needs is a priority for the service. 

 
35. Within the whole family approach, the CFWS offer includes  
 

 signposting or advising families to appropriate services 

 Providing short term tailored or intensive support to families 

 Providing longer term intensive support to families (normally up to a period 
of 12 months) 

 Targeted and tailored support programmes to families with young children 

 Specialist youth support to young people encountering difficulties, some of         
whom have entered the criminal justice system. 

 
Community Safety 
 
36. Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, County Councils are designated as 

‘Responsible Authorities’ of Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs), which 
places a duty on them to work in partnership to reduce crime and disorder.   
The Community Safety Team (CST) attend all CSP meetings and support with 
priority setting for three-yearly partnership plans and annual delivery plans.  
Two tier authorities are required to produce a Community Safety Agreement for 
the County; the CST provides strategic leadership to the Leicestershire Safer 
Community Strategy Board (LSCSB) to discharge this function and to the 
Senior Officer Group (SOG) which supports the LSCSB. 

 
37. Under S29 of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, specified 

authorities must have due regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism. The CST supports agencies across Leicestershire with 
their Prevent Duty, delivering training and sharing good practice as well as 
ensuring the Council is discharging its duty. 

 
38. The CST provides a leadership role across LLR in relation to community safety 

priorities and developing joint approaches on issues including Anti-Social 

61



 

Behaviour, domestic abuse, serious violence and hate work. The team also co-
ordinates the response to Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) in the County. 

 
39. The Team is currently leading the discharge of the authority’s new statutory 

duty under the Domestic Abuse Bill and is co-ordinating the plan around the 
£1.1million spend to support the duty, the discharge of the forthcoming Serious 
Violence Duty and the work on Trauma Informed Working with CFS colleagues. 

 
Head of Service: Locality Field Social Work 
 
Locality Field Social Work 
 
40. The Locality Fieldwork Service aims to provide the children and families of 

Leicestershire with a dynamic and good statutory social work service, utilising 
relevant assessment processes to enable a continuum of support, care, and 
protection. This will include the development and implementation of SMART 
care planning from point of referral through to the end of service and in line with 
Social Work Practice Standards. Locality Fieldwork Teams across the County 
support children and families on a child in need plan, children who are subject 
to child protection plans and those who may need protection through use of 
care proceedings and alternative care arrangements. Children who are 
supported by the Locality Fieldwork Teams are required to have an allocated 
social worker.  

 
41. The work of the Locality Fieldwork Teams is delivered through skill mixed 

locality pods, who work with and support children and families until the work is 
completed and support is no longer necessary, can be offered by a more 
appropriate service or until alternative family / care arrangements are in place. 
This may include using Private Law Processes and the Public Law Outline until 
long term solutions are identified that will provide stability, safety, and 
permanence for the child. 

 
Head of Service Children in Care and Care Leavers 
 
Children in Care Service 
 
42. The Children in Care Service comprises of six teams.  There are four Children 

in Care teams who work with those young people who have a long term care 
plan to be accommodated by the local authority either under Section 20 or a full 
care order.  

 
43. There is a specialist team working with Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 

Children (UASC) to ensure that the needs of these young people are assessed 
in a timely way, including age assessments. The needs of UASC are met 
through the Looked After Children and Care Leaver procedures, in addition to 
providing specialist support with their asylum status applications.  

  
44. The Care leavers Team works with young people over the age of 16 who are 

no longer looked after but are entitled to support up to the age of 25. The 
service continues to have a duty to children to maintain regular contact, support 

62



 

them in accessing employment, education or training and ensure that they have 
appropriate, sustainable accommodation.  

 
Fostering and Sufficiency 
 
45. The Service manages, assesses, and supports foster families, in partnership 

with the relevant Operational Head of Service, to ensure compliance to the 
Fostering National Minimum Standards. The service regularly develops the 
recruitment strategy to ensure that the service is effectively communicating and 
engaging with potential foster carers. The Service provides diverse training 
opportunities to carers to meet the needs of the children in their care and 
provide high quality matching decisions when placing children. The Service 
provides a wide range of support to carers including supervision, engagement 
activities, newsletters, and a Facebook group.  

 
46. The Service has developed a wide range of specialist carers to meet the 

complex needs of some of the children that it works with. There is also an 
established Supported Lodgings Scheme to meet the sufficiency of young 
people requiring additional support in their transition to adulthood.  

 
47. In addition to the core element of providing a wide range of carers, the 

Fostering Service also recruits, assesses, and supports Independent Visitors to 
become befrienders for  looked after children and young people, assesses 
private fostering arrangements and offers ongoing support and completes 
assessments for Step Parent Adoptions.  

 
Permanence and Adoption Service 
 
48. The Service will prioritise the early permanence of those children who cannot 

remain in the care of their birth parents, through either adoption or support to 
identify long term foster carers. The service regularly develops a recruitment 
strategy to ensure that it is effectively communicating and engaging prospective 
adopters. The assessment process includes a well-established training and 
information sharing offer which supports robust assessment and, if appropriate, 
approval for persons wishing to adopt. The service supports approved adopters 
in finding an appropriate match for their family.  

 
49. The Permanence Team focuses on the journey of the child and completes the 

Child Permanence Reports and Family Find, using robust matching, and 
supports this process until adoption is achieved. It will provide lifelong post 
adoption support, with a strong emphasis on supporting those adopters for the 
first three years after their Adoption Order has been granted. 

 
50. The service also provides post Special Guardianship Order support for the first 

three years after the granting of the order. To support maintained connection 
with birth families, the Service co-ordinates and facilitates letter box contact 
between adopted children and their birth family. Support is provided to birth 
families who have been affected by adoption through the First Family Support 
Service and also to adults who have been adopted, through the Birth Records 
Counselling Service.  

63



 

Virtual School 
 
51. The purpose of the Virtual School (VS) is to promote positive outcomes for all 

children and young people in care in Leicestershire and to support 
schools/settings/colleges to narrow the achievement gap for these. This aim 
also extends to early years children, care-leavers and children and young 
people who have left care as a result of a Child Arrangements Order, a Special 
Guardianship Order or an Adoption Order. All local authorities have a statutory 
duty to have a Virtual School Head, whose duty is to promote the education of 
looked after and previously looked after children in line with statutory guidance 
(February 2018). 

 
52. The Virtual School is “virtual” in the sense that it works to support children and 

young people in care as if they were in a single school, even though they are 
educated in many different schools and settings across the country. Each child 
or young person in care has an allocated education officer, one of a dedicated 
team of professionals who contributes to Personal Education Plan meetings 
(PEPs), Reviews of Arrangement meetings (ROAs) and other multi-agency 
meetings as appropriate. Their role in these meetings is to promote higher 
educational aspirations and a greater accountability from all those involved in 
their care.  

 
53. The VS gives advice and information about the education of previously looked-

after children to schools, parents, and any other agencies the Virtual School 
Head deems appropriate. The VS supports Leicestershire care leavers to live 
independently and access Education, Employment and Training opportunities 

 
Education and SEND 
 
Head of Service Education Quality and Inclusion 
 
Early Years and Inclusion Service 
 
54. The service carries out the local authority duty to secure sufficient and high-

quality childcare provision (including out of schools and holiday provision) 
which supports parents back into work or study. The service delivers and 
commissions support to those providers that are judged to be less than good by 
Ofsted and provides advice and guidance to all providers. 

 
55. The service has a responsibility to administer and monitor the take up of the 

Free Early Education Entitlement for eligible 2 year olds, universally for 3 and 4 
year olds and for the early years’ pupil premium. The service uses a target 
operating model and a key feature of this is to promote sustainability via 
effective peer to peer support and collaboration mechanisms through strategic 
partnerships. 

 
56. The service provides educational advice as part of a statutory assessment 

which may lead to an Education, Health and Care plan being produced. A multi-
agency approach enables staff to liaise closely with other professionals 
involved with the child/ family and support referrals to other agencies. 

64



 

 
57. Training, support, advice, and guidance is provided to Early Years settings by 

Area SENCOS in order for them to deliver their statutory requirements 
regarding the SEND code of practice and to promote the inclusion of all 
children in Early Years settings. 

 
Inclusion Service 
 
58. The Inclusion Service aims to support all children and young people, with the 

help of their parents or carers and educational establishments, so that they 
have access to, and to be included in good, or outstanding educational 
provision.   It also aims to provide opportunities for young people to prepare 
them for a successful transition into adult life, through employment, training, or 
education. 

 
59. The service delivers the local authority’s statutory functions for children missing 

education, children with medical needs, support for children at risk of exclusion 
including commissioning of Secondary Education Inclusion Partnerships, who 
co-ordinate the support for secondary children to prevent exclusion.   Other 
services include support for those children who are electively home educated, 
Post 16 education employment and training and the early identification of 
SEND support.  

 
Education Effectiveness Service 
 
60. There are four services that come under the umbrella of Education 

Effectiveness: the Education Effectiveness Partnership, Safeguarding in 
Education, Anti Bullying and Governor Support and Development Service. 

 
61. The Education Effectiveness Partnership manages the communication between 

schools and the local authority, both at an individual level (with an Education 
Effectiveness Partner with recent school experience linked to each setting) and 
at a system wide level, channelling regular updates to all schools, and bringing 
together an understanding of overall educational performance and issues to co-
ordinate positive meaningful interventions. The team also exercises statutory 
functions around primary assessment and moderation and newly qualified 
teachers.  

 
62. In addition to supporting schools and the local authority with safeguarding 

children and meeting statutory requirements, the Safeguarding in Education 
Team operates a traded service, delivering training to Designated Safeguarding 
Leads, Managing Allegations, Safer Recruitment and whole staff safeguarding 
awareness raising. Almost all Leicestershire (and Rutland) schools subscribe to 
this offer. They also undertake consultations with pupils and work on behalf of 
the Safeguarding Children Partnership on an annual safeguarding return and 
offer an e-safety Award to schools. 

 
63. The Anti-Bullying Team provides advice, support and training to schools and 

the wider children’s workforce. Courses offered include Anti-Bullying Lead 
Governor, LGBT awareness, Basic Anti-Bullying Awareness, Peer Support, and 

65



 

bespoke sessions. Each year a number of schools are supported to work on 
the Beyond Bullying Award. The team lead on the Stonewall Children and 
Young People Champions Award and complete the submission on behalf of 
Leicestershire County Council and are currently leading on anti-bullying 
initiatives and projects such as Restorative Approaches, Anti-Racist Audit and 
developing a Trans inclusive school environment. 

 
64. The Governor Support and Development Service offers a core training 

programme covering all aspects of maintained and academy strategic and 
financial governance and performance management of school leaders, 
including training for maintained schools in accordance with the local authority’s 
duty to provide free training to governors volunteering in maintained schools, a 
more extensive traded offer (including clerks training), access to a telephone 
helpline and bespoke packages, including external reviews of governance, for 
schools as identified. The understanding of school governance and strong links 
with education effectiveness and inclusion services provides an opportunity to 
support and influence governance to develop more inclusive and effective 
schools. The service also maintains and develops a guidance service for 
GDPR. 

 
Head of Service: Education Sufficiency 
 
Admissions Service 
 
65. The Service ensures the statutory co-ordination for both first-time admission to 

primary and secondary transfers, and any subsequent mid-term transfers after 
the normal transfer cycle, in compliance with the national School Admissions 
Code. The key role that follows this is the co-ordination and presentation of all 
appeals. 

 
66. With the continued emergence of academies, the Service increasingly provides 

support, guidance and oversight of a large number of admission policies for 
‘own admitting authorities’. The service also takes a lead role in Fair Protocols 
to ensure that vulnerable or hard to place children secure a school place as 
quickly as possible. The work of the service requires annual returns to the DfE 
regarding place allocations. 

 
67. The Service is also responsible for managing school attendance and statutory 

processes relating to penalty notices and court proceedings, and the licensing 
of young people for employment and entertainment, for example paper rounds 
or shows, and the respective monitoring of this. 

 
 School Organisation Service 
 
68. The fundamental role of the Service is to meet the statutory duty placed on the 

local authority to ensure that a school place is available for every child that 
requires one (for children of all ages and abilities). To meet this duty the 
Service will manage pupil forecasting, capacity assessments for schools, and 
annual statutory returns to the DfE which in turn drives the allocation of basic 

66



 

need capital grants. The Service will also plan, prepare, and deliver an annual 
capital programme for new school places.  

 
69. The service has a key role in liaising/negotiating with housing developers, 

landowners, local planning authorities and respective agents to secure Section 
106 funding for school expansions and new schools and taking a key role in all 
legal matters relating to this.  

 
70. The core business functions of the Service  also include the co-ordination of all 

academy conversions (including oversight of related property and legal 
matters), managing statutory change in schools ‘prescribed alterations’, age 
range changes, statutory vestings and land transfers, and managing the 
allocation of capital funds for safeguarding and health and safety matters. 

 
Head of Service: Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
 
Special Educational Needs Assessment Service 
 
 
71. The Service is responsible for responding to requests for Education Health and 

Care (EHC) in a timely manner, to annual reviews of EHC Plans (EHCP) 
received from schools and colleges and amending\ceasing EHCPs as required. 
The Service is responsible for carrying out Annual Reviews for those with an 
EHCP who are home educated. The Service is also responsible for responding 
to Special Educational Needs tribunal appeals on behalf of the local authority. 

 
72. The Service is responsible for managing placements for children with an EHCP 

into special schools, specialist nurseries and specialist resource bases and 
commissioning Independent Specialist Placements, ensuring efficient use of 
resources. 

 
Disabled Children Service 
 
73. The Disabled Children’s Service consists of two social work teams and an 

occupational therapy team.  Staff follow social care procedures and support 
those who are children in need, on a child protection plan, in care and care 
leavers.  All children are seen regularly and benefit from a single assessment 
and support plan to enable as much independence and to improve outcomes 
for children across all aspects of their lives. 

 
74. The Service embraces the social model of disability and acknowledges that 

although a child's disabilities can create difficulties in their lives, many of the 
problems they and their families face are due to negative attitudes, prejudice 
and unequal access to the things necessary for a good quality of life. 

 
75. Staff in the service are specialists in working with children who experience 

disabilities and their families.  The staff make assessments of need which 
support safe and creative daily living for disabled children, their families, and 
carers.  Following the Signs of Safety ethos and approach, staff have a range 

67



 

of skills and tools to help ensure that the child’s views are heard and acted 
upon, regardless of level of need. 

 
Specialist Teaching Service 
 
76. The Specialist Teaching Service (STS) consists of four teams of specialist staff, 

working together as one service, in partnership with other professionals from 
education and health and social care where appropriate, to provide coordinated 
and effective support and advice for children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities (SEND) in Leicestershire Education Settings 
and for children with hearing or visual impairment  from birth. 

 
77. The service includes the Vision Support Team, the Autism and Learning 

Support Team, the Hearing Support team, and the Assistive Technology for 
Education Support Team (ATfEST). 

 
78. The STS provides valuable support, advice and challenge to ensure that 

schools make reasonable adjustments and use best endeavours to support 
children. 

 
Educational Psychology Service 
 
79. The Educational Psychology Service (EPS) works to support children and 

families, primarily through work with schools and early years providers, drawing 
from expertise in psychology and child development. The service works with 
schools to support them to offer high quality early support and to build 
confidence in inclusive practice through information, resources and leaflets, 
advice and guidance via a helpline, support with critical incidents, information 
and signposting and phone consultation with groups of schools. The Service 
also undertakes targeted casework and provides supervision to staff in schools 
who deliver Emotional Literacy Support Assistance (ELSA). 

 
80. The Service is responsible for undertaking EHC Needs Assessments, Tribunal 

work, complex casework at the request of SENA and Priority Annual Reviews 
(via phone and/or video). 

 
81. Schools can subscribe into the Leicestershire EPS annual Service Level 

Agreements, including Educational Psychology consultation with staff and 
parent(s)/ carer(s) and bespoke training on staff resilience and wellbeing. 

 
82. Schools and education settings can also buy into Social Emotional and Mental 

Health training packages, for example on Supporting Anxious Children and 
Coping with Bereavement and Loss, as well as ELSA Training. 

 
Commissioning and Business Services 
 
Head of Service: Commissioning and Planning 
 
Commissioning Service 
 

68



 

83. The Commissioning Service is a support service that sits across the 
department, offering support and advice regarding all aspects of the 
commissioning activity, including the planning and procurement of services 
from the external market, market shaping, the brokerage of placements 
(education and social care) and the quality assurance and contract monitoring 
of provision with external providers.  The service works closely with the 
Corporate Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) and Legal teams to ensure that 
it is able to give appropriate commercial advice and support.   

 
Head of Service: Business Services 
 
84. Business Support Services provide high quality support across the department, 

ensuring good quality data inputting, appropriate administration processes, HR, 
Finance within individual service areas are in place to meet the needs of the 
various teams. The approach is to work with teams, chairs of meetings and 
panels  to make sure the business support offer is commensurate with their 
needs, including supporting all senior managers, staff in the department, and 
having key relationships with other departments, District Councils, partners, 
community and voluntary organisations, members of the public within the 
county, and professional and technical services such as Information 
Management, Business Continuity, Emergency Planning, Transport, Property, 
Health and Safety, Human Resources and ICT around the support required, 
whilst developing software systems to support those service needs. 

  

85. The service ensures the development of digital benefits which are fit for the 
future and to meet service demands, whilst ensuring SMART processes are 
implemented in a way that makes the best possible use of available 
resources.  It supports all logistics across the department and embeds new 
ways of working into business as usual when possible at all 25 locality offices, 
supporting all service areas.  The service has robust processes for managing 
the departments Freedom of Information requests, Breaches and Subject 
Access Requests (which includes regular audits of recommendations) and 
managing trend information to enable better management of data, information, 
and security.  

 
Background Papers  
 
Children and Family Services Department Plan 2020 - 2023 
 
Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Children’s 
Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf 
 
Working Together to safeguard children 2018: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guid
ance.pdf 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

69

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf


 

 

None. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, 
Director of Children and Family Services 
0116 305 2649 
Jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 

70

mailto:Jane.moore@leics.gov.uk


 

Director of Children and 
Family Services 

Assistant Director 
Targeted Early Help and 

Social Care 

Head of Service 
Safeguarding, Improvement 

and Quality Assurance 

Service Manager 
Safeguarding and 

Performance 

Service Manager 
Practice Excellence 

Service Manager 
First Response – Assessments 

Service Manager 
First response Screening and 

Vulnerability Hub 

Head of Service  
Early Help and Safer 

Communities 

Service Manager 
Youth and Youth Justice 

Service Manager 
CFWS – East 

Service Manager 
CFWS – West 

Community Safety 

Head of Service 
Locality Field Social Work 

Service Manager 
Melton, North Charnwood 

and North West 
Leicestershire 

Service Manager 
Hinckley 

Service Manager 
Wigston 

Head of Service  
Children in Care and Care 

Leavers 

Service Manager 
Children in Care and Care 

Leavers 

Service Manager 
Fostering and Sufficiency 

Service Manager 
Permanence and  Adoption 

Virtual School 

Assistant Director 
Education and SEND 

Head of Service  
Education Quality and 

Inclusion 

Oakfield Short Stay School 

Service Manager  
Early  Years and Inclusion 

Service Manager 
 Education Effectiveness, 

Safeguarding in Education 
and Governor Support and 

Development 

Service Manager 
Inclusion 

Head of Service 
Education Sufficiency 

Service Manager 
Admissions 

Service Manager 
School Organisation 

Head of Service 
Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities 

Service Manager 
SENA 

Service Manager 
Children with Disabilities 

Service Manager 
Specialist Teaching Services 

Service Manager 
Education Psychology 

Head of Service  
Commisioning and 

Planning 

Service Manager 
Commissioning 

Head of Service 
Business Services 

Children and Family Services Department 
71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 1 JUNE 

2021 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL HEAD (VSH) 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

 

Purpose of report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of data relevant to the 

 academic year 2019-20 (August 2019 to July 2020) and an overview of Virtual 

 School (VS) practice up to 31 March 2021. 

2. National benchmark data for 2019-20 was published in March 2021 and is 

 taken into account in this report. 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  

3. The Children Act 1989 places a duty on the Local Authority (LA) to promote 

 the educational achievement of children looked after by them, wherever they 

 live or are educated.  

4. In an effort to narrow achievement gaps over time for children in care, the 

 2014 Children and Families Act stated that every LA must have a Virtual 

 School Head (VSH) for children in care in order to: 

 Discharge the LA’s duty to promote the educational achievement of 

children in care wherever they live or are educated; 

 To work in partnership with all agencies to ensure appropriate education 

provision; 

 Ensure quality Personal Education Planning (PEP); 

 Manage the Pupil Premium Plus funding for children in care. 

 

5. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 added the duty to promote the 

educational achievement of previously looked after children. These duties are 

set out in the February 2018 statutory guidance ‘Promoting the education of 

looked-after children and previously looked-after children’.  

Background 

73 Agenda Item 12



 
 

6. VS practice and structure is evolving to ensure capacity is maintained to meet 

its statutory duties and those it dispenses in support of wider Leicestershire 

Children and Family Service aims, for example support for Post-16 and care 

leavers.  

Contextual Information (2019-20) 

7. Across the 2019-20 academic year the number of Leicestershire children 

entering care continued to rise and at the end of the year in July 2020 there 

were 416 children of statutory school age in care compared with 400 the year 

before, an increase of 4%. At the same point in 2016 there were 315, which 

means there has been an increase of 32.1% in 4 years.  

8. Whilst 107 of the416 (25.7%) were on roll at out of authority schools, 309 

(74.3%) were on roll at Leicestershire schools, an increase from the previous 

year when 70.25% were being educated in Leicestershire. 

9. Compared to the general school population, a high percentage (55%) of 

Leicestershire looked-after children have Special Educational Needs (SEN). 

29.08% of the full Leicestershire VS cohort had Education, Health and Care 

Plans (EHCP); the rate for all children nationally in 2019 had been 3.1%. 

10. 314 of the416 (75.5%) children were placed with foster carers; this includes 

agency foster placements and foster placements with a connected person.  

Appendix 1 of this report details the contextual information for 2019-20. 

Personal Education Planning (2019-20) 

11. The Virtual School has a duty to ensure the quality of Personal Education 

 Planning (PEP) and arranges PEP meetings for Early Years children 

 attending a nursery or setting, in primary and secondary schools and in post-

 16 education. 

12. The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic was felt across the whole of the 

 education sector from March 2020 onwards, with all aspects of the Virtual 

 School’s operations affected. The planning and running of PEPs was delayed 

 due to school closures, staff absence and technological issues.  

13. The promptness of arranging first PEPs was also affected. When a child 

 enters care, a PEP meeting should be arranged within 10 days; in 2019-20, 

 75.4% of requests for the child’s first PEP were received within the 10-day 

 window, a decrease from 76.4% in 2018-19. 

14. Prior to lockdown the VS was trialling PEP meetings conducted over Skype, 

 and each Education Improvement Officer (EIO) had been tasked with leading 

 at least one virtual meeting by the end of the autumn term 2019. This had 

 been achieved but then the Coronavirus lockdown in March 2020 had forced 

 all PEP meetings onto a remote platform..  

74



 
 

15. With the onset of Coronavirus in March 2020, the PEP cycle continued, but 

 the focus was turned towards whether pupils were continuing to attend school 

 or isolating at home, and how they were being supported with their education 

 during lockdown.  All PEPs were completed, but the disruption caused by the 

 pandemic had an impact on the percentage of meetings being held within the 

 statutory timeframe of six months,  dropping from 99.6% in 2018-19 to 98.5% 

 in 2019-20.  Appendix 2 details the PEP completion report for the academic 

 year 2019-20 and Appendix 3 shows the quality assurance analysis. 

16. The VS promotes the participation of pupils in their education planning, either 

 by attendance at the PEP meeting or by completing a pupil views document. 

17. The number of PEPs held during 2019-20 for statutory school-age pupils rose 

 to 1,271 from 1,116 the previous year, but the percentage of pupils 

 contributing to those meetings fell from 85% in 2018-19 to 70.26% in 2019-20. 

 This is attributable to the change from face to face meetings for the first term 

 and a half, to remote meetings during the second half of the spring term and 

 summer term.  Appendix 4 gives an analysis of PEP attendance and pupil 

 views completion. 

Pupil Premium Plus (PPP) Allocation to Schools (2019-20) 

18. The VSH manages the Pupil Premium for looked after children and monitors 

closely its use and impact, ensuring that schools allocate funding to 

interventions that support the individual needs of the child.  

 

19. Schools are held accountable for the results of children in care and for using 

the PPP grant appropriately and effectively to support and improve their 

educational outcomes.   

20. Schools complete a PPP plan within the SMART Targets section of the PEP 

which is monitored by the VS, who support and challenge PPP decisions on 

an ongoing basis via termly progress review meetings and data returns. 

21. The impact of PPP allocated to schools during one term is monitored at the 

PEP meeting in the following term, i.e. PPP allocated in the final term 

(summer) of 2019-20 was reviewed in the autumn term of 2020-21. 

22. Analysis shows that 80.5% of targets linked to PPP spend during 2019-20 

were successfully achieved, although this is a reduction from 89.2% the 

previous year. This is in part explained by the fact that, with children not being 

in school for the latter part of the year, school-based interventions funded by 

PPP could not be implemented. Schools allocated PPP in these 

circumstances were able to postpone the intervention until pupils returned to 

school, but could not state the aims of intervention had been met or partially 

met.  Appendix 5 details the use of the Pupil Premium Plus during the 2019-

20 academic year. 

75



 
 

 

Pupil Premium Plus (PPP) – Pooled Resource (March 2021) 

23. The PPP grant is set at £2,345 per eligible pupil and is allocated for the 

Leicestershire VS to manage on behalf of its looked-after children. £400 per 

allocation is top-sliced by the VSH to support pupils whose educational needs 

exceeded the per capita grant. When the termly PPP allocation is insufficient 

to meet a child’s needs, additional funding can be applied for from this pooled 

PPP funding. 

24. The VS encourages schools to take on the responsibility for arranging the 

support required for  pupils. This means that more pooled funding is allocated 

to schools for them to commission provision for complex cases. This might 

typically be for higher-cost ongoing provision such as employing a Learning 

Support Assistant (LSA) to provide support for effective transitions, academic 

progress and emotional stability in class, ongoing 1:1 tuition or agreed 

therapeutic input where needs do not meet CAMHS thresholds. 

25. The VS continues to use the pooled resource to commission provision for 

pupils temporarily not on roll of a school and to fund VS book parcels, 

participation activities, incentives and rewards, newsletters for children and 

young people, contributing to the Corporate Parenting laptop scheme and to 

fund a bespoke service from Leicestershire Educational Psychology Service. 

Book Parcels 

26. Monthly book parcels are sent out to all Leicestershire looked-after children 

from birth to school year 7. The increase in the number of children in care in 

that age range means that the cost of providing parcels to every child has 

increased year on year. 

27. The Dolly Parton Imagination Library provides books to all looked-after 

children aged 0 – 5 years for which there is no charge to either Leicestershire 

County Council or carers. 

28. The Book Trust was successful in tendering for the provision of monthly 

Letterbox book parcels to all children in Years 1, 3 and 5 and provide parcels 

between May and October. 

29. The VS purchases books for Bookworm parcels which go to children in 

reception and Year 2 between November and April and Boomerang 

parcels which go to children in Years 4 and 6 between May and October. 

 

30. Comments from children and carers about the books reflect the value 

they put on them: 

 “The books with maps are the best! I like reading, I would like more books.” 

– TH Year 3 

76



 
 

 “I would also like to say ‘thank you’ for the book parcel, it is very nice for 

you to send it. I hope you are doing good especially with this coronavirus 

going around and hope to see you again soon. I am really excited to go to 

school in the summer” NT Year 4 

 “I love reading books and chapters. My favourite book is Judy Moody. It 

tells you about different moods” AR Year 3 

 

Participation Events, Incentives and Rewards 

31. The Virtual School plans, staffs and recruits for aspirational educational trips 

 and events for children in care. Many activities planned prior to the Covid-19 

 pandemic had to be cancelled due to lockdown, but the VS youth worker and 

 participation officer were able to maintain contact with the children and young 

 people they had been working with before and also organised virtual activities 

 which took into account all the restrictions. 

32. The Leicestershire Communities and Wellbeing Heritage Service arranged a 

 series of events called ’Terrible Tales in Leicestershire’ for Looked After 

 Children and their foster-siblings across Leicestershire museums. These had 

 started in summer 2020 but had to be put on hold due to further lockdowns. 

 They are now due to re-commence from 17 May 2021.  

33. Foster carers and their children were invited to the VS Forest School sessions 

 which took place in Loughborough on  5 and 19 December. The two sessions 

 were attended by 14 children, who were delighted to attend and enjoyed all 

 the activities on offer.  

34. The feedback was very positive from carers and children:   

 “Loved making popcorn and Peggy people” 

77



 
 

 “Enjoyed being around other people and a range of activities for the 

children” 

 “Range of child-centred activities and very well run” 

 “Den building, hammocks, hot chocolate, thank you so much.” 

 “Camp fire, cooking, enjoying the wildlife, loved it thank you”. 

35. The VS Community Support Officer has run an online Year 5 Reading group 

 to help the children develop their comprehension and inference skills. This 

 has been so successful that sessions have been extended and a new book 

 will be selected to read. The first book shared was “The Boy at the Back of the 

 Class” by Onjali Q Rauf. The children engaged well, taking turns to read 

 aloud, and discussing what they had read and predicting what might happen 

 next. 

36. Reports on activities can be viewed on the VS website in the Latest News 

 section: https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/leicestershire-virtual-school  

37. The VS provides reward shopping vouchers to all pupils who have achieved 

 qualifications in the preceding year. These are distributed, along with a letter 

 from the Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care and a card from the 

 VSH and Head of Corporate Parenting. 

Newsletter 

38. A combined Corporate Parenting and Virtual School newsletter is sent to all 

children and young people to promote their involvement in aspirational and 

educational experiences and to celebrate their successes.  The Spring 2021 

Virtual School and Corporate Parenting newsletter is attached as Appendix 6. 

Corporate Parenting laptop scheme 

39. The VS transfers some PPP funding to Corporate Parenting to support the 

allocation of laptops to children and young people in care who would 

otherwise not have access to one. 

Leicestershire Educational Psychology Service 

40. The VS commissions dedicated Educational Psychologist work from 

Leicestershire Educational Psychology Service (LEPS); this work supports 

timely EHCP assessments and delivers individualised advice to schools on 

specific strategies. 

VS Support for Previously Looked-After Children (2019-20) 

41. The number of requests for advice and information relating to the education of 

previously looked-after children has risen steadily since the introduction of the 

role in 2017.  

 

78

https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/leicestershire-virtual-school


 
 

42. During the academic year 2019-20 the VS recorded 223 contacts relating to 

the education of previously looked-after children, almost one every working 

day of the year: 

a. 154 telephone calls 

b. 54 emails 

c. 15 meetings 

 

43. Meetings took place in school and aimed to resolve situations that had 

reached a critical point. The VS role was to facilitate effective and cordial 

communication between the school and parents and provide advice and 

information relevant to the situation, so that appropriate strategies could be 

agreed and implemented to support the child. 

VS Support for Early Years (2019-20) 

44. The VS took on the role of supporting Early Years looked-after children from 

the Early Years Team at the start of the 2019-20 academic year. The increase 

in the number of children in this cohort since then reflects the rise in numbers 

across the age range, increasing from 38 children in settings at the start of the 

academic year to 68 at the end.  This cohort is supported by a 0.5 fte VS 

Primary Officer. 

VS Support for Post-16 young people and Care Leavers (2019-20) 

45. Priority is given to ensure all young people at the end of KS4 (age 16) have 

 an identified destination and remain in Employment, Education or Training 

 (EET) during subsequent years.  

46. Leicestershire County Council careers advisors from the Education Quality 

 and Inclusion service are invited to the spring term PEP meetings of pupils 

 whose destination is not yet confirmed. 

47. College Designated Persons (DP) for looked after children are invited to the 

 summer PEP meeting of Year 11 pupils whose college destination is known to 

 ensure that plans are in place for a smooth transition into college. 

48. Transition plans for young people moving from school to college for the new 

 academic year starting in September 2021 were disrupted by Covid-19, with 

 access to college sites and physical visits being restricted, leading to young 

 people being unable to get to know colleges and key members of staff who 

 provide support.  

49. After the uncertainty around exam results, much support was delivered to 

 young people needing help with their choice of course and subsequent 

 college enrolment. 

79



 
 

50. As a result of social distancing requirements, a lot of college-based, practical 

 courses have not been able to accommodate the same number of students as 

 before, so places have been reduced and it has been harder to get on 

 courses. This also has an impact on opportunities to change to a different 

 course should the original choice not be working out.  

51. Post 16 Education Improvement Officers (EIO) were involved with a lot of 

 troubleshooting and addressing difficulties and there has been much more 

 demand for post-16 PEP meetings early in the term. 

52. Close links have been established with all local colleges and the VS arranges 

 and chairs termly meetings attended by Designated Persons (DP) from them 

 all. The DP role is not statutory; however colleges see the benefit it accords 

 their looked after children and support their staff in attending DP forum 

 meetings arranged for them. 

VS Support for Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) (2019-20) 

53. The VS has the same responsibilities for UASC as it does for any other 

 Leicestershire looked-after child or care leaver, starting with the identification 

 of appropriate education provision and monitoring of progress once enrolled. 

54. The numbers of UASC entering care each year has remained consistent since 

 2017-18, when 19 young people entered care. In 2018-19, the figure was the 

 same and in 2019-20 it was 17. In total, at the end of academic year 2019-20, 

 there were 69 UASC in care and care leavers. 

55. The VS has now produced a booklet to help schools to understand the 

 experiences and needs of UASC entitled ‘Supporting Unaccompanied 

 Asylum-Seeking Children at School’.  The UASC Virtual School leaflet is 

 attached at Appendix 7. 

Virtual School Training (March 2021) 

56. The VS has a portfolio of training that improves school and college staff 

 (including governors’), social workers’, carers’ and adoptive parents’ 

 understanding of the needs of children and identifies strategies to support 

 them.  

57. The attachment and trauma and emotion coaching training is well-received by 

 attendees and demand for it is high. However in the year to March 2021 the 

 VS delivered fewer sessions of whole school Attachment and Trauma training, 

 as adapting to delivery via online platforms took some time whilst software 

 and connectivity issues were addressed. Using Microsoft Teams has made 

 things easier and training is now delivered on a regular basis. 

58. Between September 2020 and March 2021, the VS delivered training as 

 follows:  

80



 
 

 Attachment and Trauma training to nine schools/mixed staff groups (2 x 

one-hour sessions) * 

 Induction Training for Designated Teachers of looked-after children and 

previously looked-after children in October and February 

 Emotion Coaching training to foster carers  

 Training to governors 

 Training to social workers in October and January 

 PEP workshop for DTs 

* Staff were invited from any Leicestershire school there has been enquiries from 

regarding adopted children. 

59. The VS has further bookings for the summer term for Attachment and Trauma 

 training, Early Years training, Emotion Coaching to foster carers, Transition to 

 School training and DT Induction training. 

60. Whereas in face-to-face sessions, all participants would complete an 

 evaluation form before they left, the VS is now reliant on attendees completing 

 online evaluation forms which are not completed so comprehensively. 

 However, feedback continues to be positive for all training with 99.9% judging 

 it ‘useful’ or ‘very useful’ and would recommend it to others.  

61. The VS continuously updates its training and has devised a resource booklet 

 which will be sent out after all Attachment and Trauma training. 

62. “Key Adult” and “Principles of Theraplay” courses are very practical and 

 cannot be delivered effectively via an online platform and so training sessions 

 have been postponed until they can be delivered face-to-face. 

Virtual School Regional and National Work: 

63. The VSH has strong peer support mechanisms in place through the regional 

 East Midlands Virtual School Heads forum. The Leicestershire VSH remains 

 the regional representative on the board of the National Association of Virtual 

 School Heads (NAVSH) which works closely with the Department for 

 Education (DfE), Ofsted and other government institutions to shape national 

 policy, practice and legislation. 

64. The NAVSH network enables the VS to seek from, and give support to, any of 

 the other 151 local authority virtual school heads across the country, 

 particularly in relation to children placed out of authority. 

Key Stage Test and Examination Results for Children in Care (2019-20) 

65. National curriculum assessments and review outcomes at key stage 2, 

 including measures of progress between key stages 1 and 2 were cancelled 

 due to Covid-19.  

81



 
 

 

66. The DfE publication “Outcomes for Children in need, including children looked 

 after by Local Authorities in England - March 2021” offers the following advice 

 when viewing 2019-20 examination data: 

“The cancellation of summer 2020 GCSE exams and the new method of 

awarding grades has led to a set of pupil attainment statistics that are unlike 

previous years. Each of the pupil level attainment statistics have increased - 

more than would be expected in a typical year…. This reflects the change to 

the way GCSE grades were awarded rather than improvements in pupil 

performance. As a result, the 2019/20 data should not be directly compared to 

attainment data from previous years for the purposes of measuring changes 

in student performance.” 

67. References to VS children in care include pupils being educated in schools 

both within and beyond Leicestershire (the VS cohort) and figures are for 

those in care continually for at least 12 months as at 31 March 2020. 

68. Instability, high levels of complex needs and length of time in/point of entry 

into care remain key factors influencing GCSE attainment at Key Stage 4. 

High numbers of pupils with SEND and the small numbers within cohorts also 

need to be taken into account when attempting comparisons with other 

groups. 

2019/20: Headline Summary Children in Care Attainment against Key Measures: 

  2019/20 

KS4 Attainment 8  23.9 

KS4 Achieving a pass in English and Maths GCSEs (Grade 9-4 pass) 27.9% 

KS4 Achieving a pass in English and Maths GCSEs (Grade 9-5 pass) 16.3% 

KS4 English Baccalaureate Average point score 1.44 

 

69. As in previous years, there are many individual examples of success at key 

stage 4, and a good proportion of students achieving grade 9–4 in both 

English and Maths.  Final exam data for 2019-20 is attached at Appendix 8 

and the national and regional looked after children exam results for 2019-20 

are attached at Appendix 9. 

Attendance and Exclusions (2019-20) 

70. Reporting is prompt and supported by the use of Welfare Call alerts; weekly 

and ongoing attendance and exclusion reports allied to termly Social, 

Emotional and Mental Health RAG reports from schools enable the VS to 

robustly monitor and support this agenda and respond to issues arising. The 

82



 
 

latter end of the academic year was disrupted by the Covid-19 pandemic and 

impacted both attendance and exclusion data, rendering it impossible to make 

comparisons with previous years.  

 

71. Even after some pupils returned to school in the summer term, the closure of 

individual “bubbles” in schools affected data and had an impact on learning. 

 

72. Each VS EIO is responsible for monitoring and challenging attendance and 

exclusions of their own caseload of pupils. After the March 2020 school 

closures due to  lockdown, the VS cross-referenced data provided by Welfare 

Call with that collected directly from schools by Leicestershire County Council. 

The VS EIOs then contacted schools and carers to record what education 

was being accessed by looked-after children whether in school or at home 

and sign-posted other appropriate resources. 

 

73. In lockdown, looked-after children were in the category of “vulnerable 

children” for whom schools would remain open. As corporate parents, the 

local authority had a duty to make a judgement on whether a child should 

physically attend school, depending on what was in the best interests of each 

individual child. The priority was the stability of care placement and ensuring 

that all children and young people remained safe, healthy and happy. The 

decision, taken in consultation with carers, social workers, schools and the 

VS, assessed the emotional well-being of the child, their health and that of 

their carers and foster siblings. 

 

74. There have been no permanent exclusions of children in care for several 

years – this is the result of collaborative work across schools/settings and 

Behaviour Partnerships with the VS. 

 

75. The VS continues to work closely with schools and education services to 

address concerns around exclusions and behaviour management, developing 

understanding of children’s needs and strategies to address them. The VS 

promotes its attachment and trauma training to school senior leadership 

teams and advises on alternatives to exclusion.  Attendance and exclusion 

analysis for the 2019-20 academic year is attached at Appendix 10. 

School Admission (March 2021) 

76. The VS and Leicestershire Admissions Service have collaborated to produce 

a Leicestershire looked after children Admissions protocol. This sets out the 

Admissions process for Leicestershire Looked-After Children without an 

EHCP applying for school places in Leicestershire mainstream schools and 

academies. It sits in line with the DfE Admissions code (including the draft 

new guidance) and clarifies timelines and the local authority’s expectations of 

83



 
 

mainstream schools and academies when an in-year application for a school 

place is submitted for a Leicestershire looked after child. 

 

77. The aim of the protocol is to inform people of where responsibilities lie so 

there is a clear understanding of what actions will be undertaken by whom 

and by when so that delays in accessing school places for Leicestershire 

looked after children are minimised. It has been shared with social workers 

and Leicestershire schools.  

 

78. It promotes good practice established over the years and highlights the 

importance of speaking directly to a prospective school about the pupil’s 

needs and the support the VS can offer. The process works well where staff 

and senior leadership have a good understanding of attachment and trauma 

issues and are able to work collaboratively with the VS.  The LCC looked after 

children admissions protocol is attached at Appendix 11. 

Future Planning 

Leicestershire Virtual School Priorities  

79. The VS Service Delivery Plan reflects the ambitions and ethos of the Children 

and Family Service Departmental plan. The five priorities and actions 

underpinning them are under constant review throughout the year.  

i. To raise the aspirations of and for looked-after children (LAC) and 

previously looked-after children (PLAC) 

ii. To narrow progress and attainment gaps 

iii. To improve stakeholders' understanding of the educational needs of 

children in care and those adopted from care and strengthen their support 

of education 

iv. To ensure the views of children and young people are heard, recorded and 

inform decisions regarding their education. 

v. To maintain a vibrant, informed and knowledgeable team  

80. National developments in the education landscape will always have 

implications for virtual schools and their support for vulnerable children, for 

example changes to the Ofsted framework for the inspection of schools; 

Timpson review of exclusions; Review of Children in Need, Post-16 PPP, all 

of which have been put on hold during Covid-19. 

81. Problems arising over the past year have been dealt with in a creative manner 

and it is important that the solutions implemented are not discarded with an 

easing of measures. Therefore the VS will be pursuing the opportunity to 

retain its use of technology to increase efficiency and promote its continued 

use in schools where it is to the benefit of pupils. 

 

84



 
 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1: Contextual Information 2019-20  

Appendix 1 VS 

Contextual Information 2019-20.pdf 

Appendix 2: PEP Completion Report for Academic Year 2019-20 

Appendix 2 PEP 

Completion Report for Academic Year 2019 to 2020.pdf 

Appendix 3: Quality Assurance Analysis 

Appendix 3 Quality 

Assurance Analysis   - Academic Year 2019 to 2020.pdf 

Appendix 4: Analysis of PEP attendance and pupil views completion 

Appendix 4 Analysis 

of PEP attendance and pupil views completion - Acad Yr 2019 to 2020.pdf 

Appendix 5: Use of Pupil Premium Plus Academic Year 2019-20 

Appendix 5 Use of 

Pupil Premium - Academic Year 2019-2020.pdf 

Appendix 6: Spring 2021 Virtual School and Corporate Parenting Newsletter 

Appendix 6 2021 

Spring Virtual School and Corporate Parenting Newsletter 03.pdf 

Appendix 7: UASC Virtual School leaflet 

Appendix 7 UASC 

virtual school leaflet 04.pdf 

Appendix 8: Final Exam data 2019-20 

Appendix 8 Final  

Exam Data  2019-20 - April 2021.pdf 

Appendix 9: National and regional looked-after children Exam results 2019-20 

85



 
 

Appendix 9 National 

and Regional Children in Care Examination Results - 2019-20.pdf 

Appendix 10: Attendance and exclusion analysis Academic year 2019-20 

Appendix 10 

Attendance and Exclusion Analysis - Academic Year 2019 to 2020.pdf 

Appendix 11: LCC LAC Admissions protocol 

Appendix 11 2020-12 

LCC LAC Admissions protocol v4ii.pdf 

Background Papers 

Statutory Guidance – Promoting the education of looked after children and previously 

looked-after children: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-

after-children 

 

Circulation Under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

None. 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report. 

Officer to Contact 

Tony Barnard  

Virtual School Head, 

Leicestershire Virtual School, 

Children and Family Services, 

Leicestershire County Council. 

Tel: 0116 3056460  

tony.barnard@leics.gov.uk 

86

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children


 

 

 
 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
1ST JUNE 2021 

 
QUARTER 4 2020/21 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present the Committee with an update of the 
Children and Family Services Department’s performance for the period January 
to March 2020 (Quarter 4).  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. The Children and Family Services Department’s performance is reported to the 
Committee in accordance with the Council’s corporate performance 
management arrangements. 

 
Background 
 

3. A Strategic Plan 2018-2022 has been agreed by the Council and has recently 
been refreshed. Children and Family Services has also produced a 
Departmental Plan 2020 -2023 which identifies a number of ambitions and 
measures to monitor progress.  The following report and accompanying 
dashboard aim to report on priority areas identified by both plans and monitor 
performance of key indicators on a quarterly basis. The current performance 
dashboard is attached as Appendix A, and this has been refreshed to 
concentrate on indicators where new data is available for Quarter 4.   

 
4. Due to the closure of schools, no school inspection data or education outcome 

data is available. 
 

5. Quartile positions are added where comparative national data is available. 
Comparative data is not available for all indicators. 

 
Overview  
 

6. From 20 measures that have been reported, five have improved, five show no 
significant change and six have declined. In addition to this, four indicators 
provide information only with no polarity. 

87 Agenda Item 13



 

 

7. From 12 measures that have a national benchmark, five are in the top quartile, 
four are in the second quartile, three are in the third quartile and none are in the 
fourth quartile.  
 

Helping children in Leicestershire live in safe, stable environments and have 
secure attachments 
 

8. Local Authority comparisons used are figures published by the government for 
end of year benchmarking. It should be acknowledged that many nationally 
published figures still reflect pre-Covid-19 activity of the 2019-20 period. 

 
9. The number of ‘Child Protection cases reviewed within timescales’ was 96.3% 

in quarter 4. This is similar to quarter 3 (96.4%) and Leicestershire remains in 
the second quartile of all local authorities by published benchmarks. 

 
10. The percentage of ‘Children becoming subject to a child protection plan for a 

second or subsequent time’ increased to 22.3% in quarter 4 (25 children). This 
follows a large reduction in quarter 3. The number of children is actually smaller 
than quarter 3 but the lower number of children with a child protection plan 
overall makes the percentage of the total slightly higher than quarter 3. 
Leicestershire remains in the third quartile of local authorities. 
 

11. The percentage of re-referrals to Social Care within 12 months was 18.4% in 
quarter 4 (236), a reduction of 2.7% compared to quarter 3 and follows a similar 
reduction in the previous quarter. This improvement moves Leicestershire into 
the second quartile of local authorities. 
 

12. The percentage of ‘single assessments completed within 45 days’ was 93.3%. 
This represents 938 assessments and is 2.7% higher than quarter 3. This would 
now place Leicestershire in the top quartile nationally by available comparisons.  

 
13. Five Child Protection plans lasting two years or more were open at the end of 

quarter 4, representing 1% of cases. This is an increase of two children 
compared to quarter 3. The current figure places Leicestershire in the top 
quartile of local authorities and is lower than statistical neighbours using 
available comparators. 
 

14. The ‘percentage of children with three or more placements during the year’ was 
2.6% (18 children). This is very low by any standard and places Leicestershire 
in the top quartile nationally. The ‘percentage of children in the same placement 
for 2+ years or placed for adoption’ was 71% (181). This is an improvement on 
quarter 3 and Leicestershire would move up to the second quartile by published 
benchmarks 

 
15. The percentage of Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation was 92.4% at the 

end of quarter 4. This is lower than quarter 3 but Leicestershire remains in the 
top quartile of local authorities using available comparisons.   
 

16. The percentage of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training was 
59.9% at the end of quarter 4 (158 young people). This is lower than quarter 3 
but Leicestershire remains in the top quartile by comparison with other local 
authorities.  
 

88



 

 

17. The service provides careful oversight to the care leaver indicator and is driven 
by a corporate commitment for creating mentoring and apprenticeship 
opportunities for care leavers.  

 
18. The percentage of ‘Children in Care who have had a dental check’ was 28.4% 

(197 children). This is the lower than quarter 3. However, it should be noted that 
routine dental treatment has been limited during the period of the Covid-19 
lockdown which accounts for the decrease.  
 

19. The percentage of ‘Children in Care who have had an annual health 
assessment’ within the last 12 months was 85.5% (594). This is 2.2% higher 
than quarter 3. Completion of health assessments continues to be overseen by 
the Children in Care Head of Service and Service Manager, with specific 
actions identified to address delays and barriers including systems support, 
processes and staffing pressures. Both managers attend quarterly operational 
and strategic meetings with health partners to discuss and address the health 
needs of children in care and how best to meet these needs. 

 

Helping children and their families build strength, resilience, confidence and 
capacity 
 

 
20. During quarter 4, the Children and Family Wellbeing Service (CFWS) worked 

with 4,042 individuals and 1,500 families across Leicestershire. This is higher 
than quarter 3 in both cases when the figures were 3,744 and 1,303 
respectively.  
 

 

People are safe in their daily lives 
 

21. Youth Offending statistics are usually reported one or two quarters in arrears. 
This is because data has to be produced and validated by legal bodies such as 
the Police and courts before being released to local authorities. 

 
22. The Q3 2020/21 figure (latest available) for ‘first time entrants to the criminal 

justice system aged 10-17’ was 26. This is a rise of 10 compared to the 
previously reported quarterly figure. Of this group, 21 were previously known to 
the Children and Families service. The figures for the first-time entrants remain 
low compared to regional and national data. 

 
23. The rate of re-offending per young offender for quarter 2 2020/21 (latest 

available) was 0.46 offences per offender. This is similar to the quarter 1 figure 
of 0.4. 
 

24. Two young people were sentenced to custody during quarter 3 2020/21 (latest 
available), this is the same number as quarter 2. This figure is usually low, for 
example one or two. 

  
 
 
 
 
 

89



 

 

Help every child to get the best possible start in life 
 

Early years 
 
25. The percentage of eligible two-year and three-year olds taking up the Free 

Early Education Entitlement (FEEE) is reported termly and latest figures include 
the 2021 spring term. 
 

26. During the spring term, the percentage of eligible 3 year olds taking up their 
FEEE place was 93.6% (6,834) a rise of 2.8% from the previous quarter. The 
percentage of eligible 2 year olds was 63.6% (1,041), a fall from the autumn 
figure but very similar to spring 2020. Eligibility for 2 year olds is more targeted 
towards disadvantaged families, hence the smaller number of children. 
 

27. The figures for the past year have been heavily affected by the Covid-19 
disruption which has meant that newly eligible children were unable to begin 
their placement and some parents preferred to keep their children at home. 
Vulnerable and key worker children were also given priority as capacity was 
frequently limited.  
 

 
Help every child to have access to good quality education to ensure they 
achieve their maximum potential 
 

 
28. No school inspections took place during this period. Graded school inspections 

are now expected to resume in Autumn 2021 after being delayed by the second 
national lockdown. 
 

29. The number of children Electively Home Educated (EHE) was 867 at the end of 
quarter 4. This is higher than the reported quarter 3 figure of 768. This figure 
counts children whose parents have chosen to educate their child at home, 
rather than the local authority providing home tuition (for example, if a child 
cannot be in school due to medical reasons).  
 

30. Although the long term national trend has been for a rise in children who are 
Electively Home Educated (EHE), the Leicestershire figure continues to 
increase each quarter, indicating a strong long term trend locally. The number 
was 597 at the end of March 2020.The trend has been driven by two factors 
during this period: firstly, having experienced a period of enforced home 
schooling, some parents have opted for EHE as a lifestyle choice and have 
chosen to continue this even when schools reopened. The second factor has 
been ongoing health concerns which could be for the child, vulnerable parents 
or general safety concerns. The numbers will continue to be monitored closely.  

 
31. Latest NEET data (young people Not in Education, Employment or Training), is 

for the end of March 2021 and shows a Leicestershire figure of 2.5% 
representing 347 young people. This is an increase of 8 young people 
compared to quarter 3. The current figure is similar to the statistical neighbour 
average of 2.6% 

 
 
 

90



 

 

 
Conclusion 

 
32. The report provides a summary of performance at the end of quarter 4 of 

2020/21, covering the period January to March 2021. 
 

33. Details of all metrics will continue to be monitored on a regular basis throughout 
the year and any subsequent changes will be notified in future reports. 

 
Background Papers  
 
None 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

34. None 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director – Children and Families Service 
Tel:  0116 305 2649        
Email: Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk      
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director – Children’s Social Care 
Tel:  0116 305 5479   
Email: Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 
 
Stewart Smith, Business Partner – Performance and Business Intelligence 
Tel: 0116 305 5700  
Email: Stewart.Smith@leics.gov.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Children and Family Services Department Performance Dashboard for 
Quarter 4, 2020/21  
 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 

35. Addressing equalities issues is supported by this report, with a focus on 
vulnerable groups within Leicestershire, including children in care.  
Education data relating to different context groups including children with 
Special Educational Needs and Free School Meals is reported when data 
becomes available.  

91

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Stewart.Smith@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Latest update Current figure

Compared 

to previous 

data Target*

Status 

RAG

National 

benchmark 

(quartile 1 = 

top)

Most recent 

Statistical 

Neighbour 

average

Help children in Leicestershire to live in safe, stable environmnets and have secure 

attachments

% child protection cases which were reviewed within timescales. 
Q4 96.3% Similar >96.5% A 2 89.8%

% of children becoming subject to a child protection plan for second or subsequent time
Q4 22.3% (25)

Higher (low 

is good) <22.3% A 3 22.9%

% re-referrals to childrens Social Care within 12 months
Q4 18.4% (236)

Lower (low 

is good) <18.9% A 2 22.1%

% Single assessments completed within 45 days 
Q4 93.3% (938)

Higher 
(high is good)

>88.3%
G 1 86.3%

% of Child Protection plans lasting 2 years or more open at the end of the quarter (low = good)
Q4 1% (5)

Similar (low 

is good) <1.8% G 1 1.4%

Placement stability - % children with 3 or more placements during a year  (low = good)
Q4 2.6% (18)

Similar (low 

is good)
<9%

G 1 11.2%

Placement stability - % children in same placement for 2+ years or placed for adoption
Q4 71% (181)

 Higher 
(high is good) >70% A 2 68.3%

% of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (end of quarter)
Q4 92.4% (244)

Lower (high 

is good) >91% G 1 85.4%

The % of Care leavers in education, employment and training (EET) (end of quarter)
Q4

59.9%  

(158)
 Lower 

(high is good) >54% G 1 53.0%

The % of children in care who have had dental checks within last 12 months (at end of period)
Q4 28.4% (197) Lower n/a n/a n/a n/a

The % of children in care who have their annual health assessment within last 12 months (at end of period)
Q4 85.5% (594) Higher n/a n/a n/a n/a

Children and Families Performance 2020/21 Quarter 4

93



Help children and their families build strength, resilience, confidence and capacity

No. of individuals worked with by Children and Families Wellbeing Service during quarter Q4
4,042 Higher n/a n/a n/a n/a

No. of families worked with by Children and Families Wellbeing Service during quarter Q4 1,500 Higher n/a n/a n/a n/a

No. of Children in mainstream schools with Education and Health Care Plans
Not available this quarter n/a n/a n/a n/a

No. of Children in mainstream schools in receipt of SEN Support (without EHCP)
Not available this quarter n/a n/a n/a n/a

People are safe in their daily lives

Number of first time entrants to the criminal justice system aged 10-17  (low = good)

(year to date) 2020/21 Q3 26
Higher (no 

polarity) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Rate of re-offending by young offenders  (low = good)
Q2 2020/21 0.46

Higher (Low 

is good) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Number of instances of the use of custody for young people  (low = good)
2020/21 Q3 2 Same n/a n/a n/a n/a

94



Help every child to get the best possible start in life

The % of eligible 2 year olds taking up their FEEE
Spring 2021 63.6% Lower >77.3% A 3 74%

The % of eligible 3 year olds taking up their FEEE
Spring 2021 93.6% Higher >98% A 3 97.3%

Percentage of Primary schools rated 'good' or 'outstanding' Not available this quarter 89.0%

Percentage of Secondary schools rated 'good' or 'outstanding' Not available this quarter 76.0%
% of reception pupils reaching a ‘Good level of development’

A 2 88.4%
Help every child to have access to good quality education to ensure they 

achieve their maximum potential
Key Stage 2 - pupils achieving expected standard in  Reading, Writing and Mathematics

2019 48.7% Better n/a n/a n/a

No. of Children Electively Educated at Home Q4 867 Higher n/a n/a n/a n/a

 NEET young people aged 16-17   (low = good)
Q4 2.5% (347) Similar <1.9% A 2 2.6%

RAG rating key

* Targets are based on being in the top quartile of County Authorities where comparative data is available

  County Authorties are used as the benchmark for the LCC Annual Report Second or third quartile with room for improvement

Fourth quartile or low in the third quartile with a declining trend

Top quartile of local authorities or high in second quartile with improving 

trend

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2021.
	10 Wider Impact of Covid-19.
	2020.08.26_LLR YP Covid Survey report

	11 Children and Family Services Department.
	CFS Structure April 2021

	12 Annual Report of the Virtual School Head.
	13 Quarter 4 2020/21 Performance Report.
	CFS Performance report Q4 2020-21


